#### ABSTRACT

Title of Thesis: PARENTAL ETHNIC-RACIAL

SOCIALIZATION PROCESSES AMONG CHINESE AMERICAN FAMILIES WITH

YOUNG CHILDREN

Xinyi Zhang, Master of Arts, 2023

Thesis Directed By: Professor Cixin Wang, Department of

Counseling, Higher Education, and Special

Education

Despite literature suggesting that socializing children of color regarding race and ethnicity is key to protect them against racism in America, little is known about how Asian American young children are ethnically and racially socialized by their parents. In the event of increased anti-Asian racism during COVID-19, it becomes urgent that we address this knowledge gap. The goal of the present study is to understand the parental ethnic-racial socialization processes with Asian American young children from diverse socioeconomic backgrounds. Fifty-seven low-income (n=36) and middle-and-upper-income (n=21) Chinese American mothers (Mage = 37.14, SD = 4.99) of four-to-seven-year-old children (Mage = 5.63, SD = 0.82, female n = 33, 58%) from Maryland and New York were interviewed. The participants shared the frequency and strategies of their ethnic-racial socialization processes and their perception of the effectiveness of these strategies. Using qualitative content analyses, results indicated that: (a) The two income groups shared the same frequency of using each ethnic-racial socialization dimension (cultural

socialization, preparation for bias, promotion of mistrust, and egalitarianism and silence about race); (b) Different patterns emerged in the content of how they used preparation for bias and promotion of mistrust; (c) Mothers from the low-income group were more likely to experience discrimination and to share the discrimination experiences with their children to prepare them for bias; (d) Mothers from both of the income groups recognized that their children face model minority stereotypes in the society, but they held different attitudes towards the stereotypes; (e) The two income groups found cultural socialization helpful and promotion of mistrust harmful. More diversity and less consensus were found in their perception of the effectiveness of preparation for bias and egalitarianism and silence about race. The current study is the first study to reveal diversity of ethnic-racial socialization processes among the Chinese American families with young children. It provides empirical support that socioeconomic context is an indispensable variable in understanding ethnic-racial socialization processes in families of color.

# PARENTAL ETHNIC-RACIAL SOCIALIZATION PROCESSES AMONG CHINESE AMERICAN FAMILIES WITH YOUNG CHILDREN

by

Xinyi Zhang

Thesis submitted to the Faculty of the Graduate School of the University of Maryland, College Park, in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Arts

2023

Advisory Committee:
Professor Cixin Wang, Chair
Professor Colleen O'Neal
Professor Richard Shin

© Copyright by Xinyi Zhang 2023

# Acknowledgements

Data collection for this study is funded by Society for Research in Child

Development, Early Career Scholar Grant to Dr. Jia Li Liu.

## Table of Contents

Acknowledgements	ii
Table of Contents	iii
List of Tables	v
List of Figures	vi
Chapter 1: Introduction	
Chapter 2: Theoretical Framework	1
Parental Ethnic-Racial Socialization Practices	3
An Integrative Model for the Study of Developmental Competencies in Minor	rity
Children	
Chapter 3: Literature Review	
Ethnic-Racial Socialization Concepts and History	
Ethnic-Racial Socialization Dimensions	
Cultural Socialization	10
Preparation for Bias	12
Promotion of Mistrust	15
Egalitarianism and Silence about Race	
Ethnic-Racial Socialization and Family Socioeconomic Status	18
Parental Ethnic-Racial Socialization with Young Children	19
Place Asian American Child Development in the Context of Asian American	
History and Contemporary Narratives	
Measures of Asian American Parental Ethnic-Racial Socialization	25
Asian American Parental Ethnic-Racial Socialization	
Current Study	
Chapter 4: Method	
Participants	
Procedures	
Interview Questions	39
Ethnic-Racial Socialization Process	
Data Analysis	
Interview Transcription and Translation	
Coding Process	40
Chapter 5: Results	45
Cultural Socialization	
Frequency	45
Current Practices	45
Helpful or Harmful	47
Preparation for Bias	49
Frequency	49
Current Practices	50
Helpful or Harmful	
Promotion of Mistrust	
Frequency	60
Current Practices	60

61
64
64
65
69
74
74
81
84
85
88
110

## List of Tables

- Table 1: Sample Demographics
- Table 2: The categorization matrix for coding
- Table 3: Initial codes under cultural socialization dimension
- Table 4: Final codes under cultural socialization dimension
- Table 5: Codebook
- Table 6: Frequency of using each ethnic-racial socialization dimension among 36
- low-income vs. 21 middle-and-upper-income Chinese American mothers
- Table 7: Frequency of each code in the codebook
- Table 8: Perception of the four ethnic-racial socialization dimensions among 57
- Chinese American mothers

# List of Figures

Figure 1: ERS Practices used by Chinese American mothers Figure 2: Chinese American mothers' Perception of ERS Dimensions

## Chapter 1: Introduction

America is becoming increasingly diverse. More than half of the students in public schools in this nation belong to a minority group (La Salle et al., 2019). Asian American is the fastest growing group among all of the ethnic minority population. By 2060, Asian American children and adolescents under the age of 18 are estimated to make up 7.9 percent of the entire U.S. population (Colby & Ortman, 2015).

However, despite high educational achievement, Asian American children report highest levels of peer and adult racial discrimination compared to their non-Asian peers (Greene et al., 2006; Rosenbloom & Way, 2004). During the COVID-19 pandemic, nearly half of the Chinese American parents and youths reported being discriminated racially either online or in person (Cheah et al., 2020). Discrimination experiences were found to predict greater anxiety, depressive symptoms, and lower self-esteem among Asian American youths (Benner & Kim, 2009b; Juang & Alvarez, 2010; Juang & Cookston, 2009).

Ethnic-racial socialization—the process of conveying messages about race and ethnicity to children—has been found to have protective effects among ethnic minority youths against racial discrimination (Burt et al., 2012; Neblett et al., 2010, 2012). Thus, socializing Asian American children regarding race and ethnicity is critical to prepare them for living in an increasingly diverse country as a minority, especially in the event of increased anti-Asian racism during COVID-19. However, very few research examined the ethnic-racial socialization processes among Asian American children. Research on the ethnic-racial socialization of Asian American children living in low-income environments was, to my knowledge, non-existent. To

fill in the gap in the literature, the present qualitative study aims to explore Chinese American immigrant mothers' ethnic-racial socialization with young children (4-7 years old) and compare middle-and-upper-income and low-income mothers' ethnic-racial socialization processes.

I will first present the guiding theory and framework of the study, and then review literature on ethnic-racial socialization concept, including its history, content and measures, the relation between ethnic-racial socialization and family socioeconomic status, the importance of parental ethnic-racial socialization with young children, the influence of Asian American history and contemporary narratives on Asian American child development, and Asian American parents' ethnic-racial socialization of their children. After that, I will introduce the present study and share its results. I will conclude with discussion, implications and future directions.

## Chapter 2: Theoretical Framework

## Parental Ethnic-Racial Socialization Practices

Hughes et al. (2006) defined ethnic-racial socialization as the transmission of information regarding race and ethnicity from parents to their children. After reviewing more than 50 empirical articles between 1975 and 2005 using the keywords "racial socialization", "ethnic socialization", and "parenting and ethnic identity", Hughes et al. (2006) categorized ethnic-racial socialization messages into four dimensions – Cultural Socialization, Preparation for Bias, Promotion of Mistrust, and Egalitarianism and Silence about race. Cultural socialization refers to teaching children about their racial or ethnic heritage and promoting cultural, racial, and ethnic pride. Preparation for bias is telling children to anticipate discrimination and preparing them to cope with it. Promotion of mistrust is emphasizing to children the need for caution and distrust in interracial interactions. Egalitarianism and silence about race refers to parental practices that either value individual qualities over racial group membership or avoid mention of race in discussion with their children.

Guided by this framework of ethnic-racial socialization practices, the present study will examine each of the four dimensions (Cultural Socialization, Preparation for Bias, Promotion of Mistrust, and Egalitarianism and Silence about race) of the ethnic-racial socialization processes in Chinese American families. It will explore the frequency, content, and perception of usefulness of each dimension among Chinese American mothers of young children from both low-income and middle-and-upper-income backgrounds. A more elaborate literature review on ethnic-racial socialization guided by this framework will be covered in Chapter 2.

An Integrative Model for the Study of Developmental Competencies in Minority

Children

García Coll et al. (1996) proposed a conceptual model for the study of child development in minority populations. García Coll et al. (1996) integrated mainstream developmental frameworks and culturally diverse models, aiming to capture constructs that were unique to the developmental processes of minority children as well as constructs that were relevant to the developmental processes of all children. Guided by this model, the ethnic-racial socialization of Chinese American young children in the present study will be understood in contexts of socializing children into both the mainstream society and their minority Chinese and Asian identity.

The integrative model consists of eight major constructs that influence developmental processes for children of color – 1) social position variables (race, ethnicity, social class, gender); 2) social stratification mechanisms (racism, prejudice, discrimination, oppression); 3) segregation; 4) promoting/ inhibiting environments; 5) adaptive culture; 6) child characteristics; 7) family; and 8) developmental competencies. Centering social position variables (race, ethnicity, social class) and considering them as core forces influencing the development of minority children is the hallmark of this model (García Coll et al., 1996). The present study is anchored in this thought. Chinese American families (both of the parents have to be of Chinese ethnicity) from both low-income and middle-and-upper-income backgrounds were recruited so that race, ethnicity, and social class would be examined in depth to explore Chinese American families' ethnic-racial socialization processes. Of the eight constructs highlighted by the model (García Coll et al., 1996), four constructs are

directly relevant to the design of this study. They are social position variables, social stratification mechanisms, adaptive culture, and family.

Social position variables are attributes that societies use to place each individual in the social hierarchy. They include but are not limited to race, social class, ethnicity, and gender. Social class is achieved by adults and assigned to children (Rosenberg & Pearlin, 1978). It also influences parents' values and practices (Kohn et al., 1979). By studying the ethnic-racial socialization processes among Chinese American mothers with young children from both low-income and middle-and-upper-income social positions, this study hopes to explore the role of race, ethnicity, and social class in Chinese American parents' socialization of their children.

García Coll and colleagues (1996) listed and defined four *social stratification mechanisms*: racism – pervasive and systematic assumptions about the superiority of
certain races; prejudice – preconceived judgments about a person or a group of
certain social positions; discrimination – behaviors that deny a person or a group of
people equal treatment; and oppression – systematic use of power to treat other
people unjustly. These four concepts will be discussed in families of color through
three of the ethnic-racial socialization dimensions—preparation for bias, promotion of
mistrust, and egalitarianism and silence about race. By examining how Chinese
American mothers use preparation for bias, promotion of mistrust, and egalitarianism
and silence about race as part of the ethnic-racial socialization processes, the present
study aims to explore and compare how Chinese American mothers from different

income levels talk about the social stratification mechanisms—racism, prejudice, discrimination, and oppression—with their young children.

Adaptive culture is a set of goals, traditions, values, histories, and contextual demands that differs from the mainstream culture. It is derived from a combination of collective history and current demands. The collective history are operated through three components: traditions and cultural legacies, economic and political history, and migration and acculturation patterns. The current demands refer to contemporary and immediate influences in the neighborhoods and communities, which may also be transmitted through education, media, and interpersonal interactions. The construct of adaptive culture is directly related to cultural socialization, one of the ethnic-racial socialization dimensions, that is being examined in the present study. By investigating how Chinese American mothers use cultural socialization as part of the ethnic-racial socialization process, the present study hopes to explore what aspects of the mothers' minority culture they wish to pass on to their offspring and furthermore how these mothers balance Chinese culture and dominant culture in child-rearing. Adaptive culture is also related to social stratification mechanisms (García Coll et al., 1996). Prejudice, discrimination and racism operate at this level and contribute to contextual demands for children. In the current study, examining the ethnic-racial socialization processes for Chinese American children will unpack the stories of Chinese American immigrant mothers making sense of their discrimination and racism experiences and how these experiences contribute to current demands for their children.

Minority family characteristics are highlighted by the structure and roles of the family; family beliefs, values, and goals; racial socialization; and socioeconomic resources (García Coll et al., 1996). These family elements are also influenced by adaptive culture. The ideal family structure, beliefs, values and goals may be traced back to the family's original country. Racial socialization helps families of color cope with racial discrimination. It also supports parents of color to maintain the positive image of their family racial identity with their child. Furthermore, the availability of socioeconomic resources and how parents of color use these resources influence their child's development. The present study examines how family beliefs and socioeconomic resources impact the ethnic-racial socialization processes in Chinese American families. Specifically, the close examination of the four ethnic-racial socialization dimensions will reveal to us how Chinese American family characteristics and adaptive culture influence the way Chinese American mothers share important cultural values, prepare their children for discrimination and help their children maintain positive racial identity.

In summary, guided by the integrative model for the study of developmental competencies in minority children (García Coll et al., 1996), the present study is designed to explore the parental ethnic-racial socialization experiences of Chinese American young children from diverse socioeconomic backgrounds. Specifically, the exploration will consider the influence of individual social position, social stratification mechanisms, the macro adaptive culture, and the micro family characteristics in each unique Chinese American family.

## Chapter 3: Literature Review

## Ethnic-Racial Socialization Concepts and History

Ethnic-racial socialization is defined by Hughes and colleagues (2006) as communicating about race and ethnicity to children. It is found to be a salient part of child rearing in ethnic minority families. Ethnic-racial socialization is linked with youth's perception of their race and the degree to which youths identify themselves as a member of the ethnic group (Rivas-Drake et al., 2009). Ethnic minority children who receive more ethnic-racial socialization have more knowledge about their own culture (Knight et al., 1993; Quintana & Vera, 1999), are more likely to express racial identities (Marshall, 1995), and prefer behaviours that belong to their ethnicity and race (Quintana & Vera, 1999).

Work on ethnic-racialization socialization can be traced back to the early 1980s. Researchers documented that African American parents would instil racial pride and promote self-esteem in their children so that they are prepared for potential stereotypes and discrimination in the society (Richardson, 1982; Tatum, 1987). By the 1990s, researchers found that ethnic-racial socialization is also prevalent in other ethnic minority families, that include yet not limited to Puerto Rican families (Rodriguez, 1996), Latino families (Suárez-Orozco & Suárez-Orozco, 1995), and West Indian families (Waters, 1999). Since then, research on ethnic-racial socialization has grown tremendously.

Racial socialization—transmission of information about race—and ethnic socialization—transmission of messages about ethnicity are historically used in different groups (Hughes et al., 2006). Racial socialization originates from research

with African American communities, where scholars focus on how African American parents talk about race with their children to instil racial pride and prepare them for bias in a white society (Boykin & Toms, 1985). Ethnic socialization is more often used in Asian and Latino communities (Chen, 1998), and less often in African American communities (Hughes et al., 2006). Parents who ethnically socialize their children emphasize cultural values and practices, ethnic identity and assimilation to the mainstream culture (Knight et al., 1993; Nguyen et al., 2015; Ou & McAdoo, 1993).

Despite the differences of how each racial and ethnic group approach this communication, racial socialization and ethnic socialization overlap considerably. Parents often do not distinguish messages about race and ethnicity when they talk to their children (Hughes et al., 2006). Parents include information about racial pride, discrimination, cultural traditions, ethnic behaviors and in-group attitudes in the same discussion. In addition, research has shown that children form the concept of ethnicity and race following similar developmental stages (Quintana, 1998; Umaña-Taylor et al., 2014). Therefore, this paper will use ethnic-racial socialization to refer to the combined definition of racial socialization and ethnic socialization to demonstrate the inseparable nature of race and ethnicity in parenting and child development. Parental ethnic-racial socialization is thus in this paper defined as the transmission of information regarding race and ethnicity from parents to their children (Hughes et al., 2006).

**Ethnic-Racial Socialization Dimensions** 

Ethnic-racial socialization literature is characterized by a variety way of conceptualizing ethnic-racial socialization (Hughes et al., 2006). Some studies examined ethnic-racial socialization as a unidimensional construct, for example focusing solely on promotion of cultural values and practices. Some studies examined multiple dimensions of ethnic-racial socialization. Some studies used a broad terminology, for example racial socialization while others used a more specific term, for example preparation for bias. The inconsistency in the conceptualization of ethnic-racial socialization made it difficult to synthesize results across studies. A more consistent and precise definition of ethnic-racial socialization is needed to compare and integrate results on this subject (Hughes et al., 2006).

In Hughes et al.'s seminal review on ethnic-racial socialization (2006), the researchers reviewed more than 50 articles on this topic between 1975 and 2005, and summarized four dimensions of ethnic-racial socialization—Cultural Socialization, Preparation for Bias, Promotion of Mistrust, and Egalitarianism and Silence about race. In the current study, I chose the conceptualization of ethnic-racial socialization reflected in this review.

Next, I will present a literature review on the content, frequency, and ethnic minority youth outcomes of each dimension. I will have a more focused and detailed review on Chinese and Asian American youth outcomes of these four dimensions in a later section.

#### **Cultural Socialization**

Cultural socialization is teaching children about their racial or ethnic heritage and history and promoting cultural, racial, and ethnic pride, either directly or

indirectly (Hughes et al., 2006). Some examples may be talking about important historical or cultural figures; exposing children to culturally relevant books, music, and stories; celebrating cultural holidays; eating ethnic foods; and encouraging children to use their family's native language.

Ogbu's cultural-ecological model (1981) posits that parenting practices need to be interpreted in the culture in which they take place because parents socialize their children to be competent in a particular context. Ethnic pride, cultural knowledge and practices were among the first things parents talked about when they were asked to share thoughts about ethnic-racial socialization, suggesting that it is a significant parenting practice (Hughes et al., 2006).

Cultural socialization is also the most used theme across all ethnic minority groups. More than 90% of Latino parents and all African American parents reported cultural socialization in the past year (Hughes, 2003). In one study investigating African American families of young children, 67% of the parents gave messages related to racial achievement and 93% gave messages related to racial pride (Coard et al., 2004). Among Asian American samples, about 66% of Japanese parents reported teaching cultural practices (Phinney & Chavira, 1995). Chinese American parents stressed to their children the importance of learning Chinese culture and speaking native language (Ou & McAdoo, 1993).

Cultural socialization is found to be consistently associated with positive outcomes for children of color. In a meta-analysis of 102 articles on ethnic-racial socialization, cultural socialization was positively associated with self-perceptions and interpersonal relationships, and negatively associated with externalizing

behaviors (Wang et al., 2020). Cultural socialization was the strongest predictor of ethnic-racial identity among all four ethnic-racial socialization dimensions, namely cultural socialization, preparation for bias, promotion of mistrust, and egalitarianism and silence about race (Huguley et al., 2019). It was also positively associated with ethnic identity exploration and commitment (Juang & Syed, 2010). In addition, cultural socialization was related to positive academic and psychosocial outcomes for students of color. Cultural socialization positively predicted students' academic achievement (GPA), educational aspirations, and initiative-taking in learning in a sample of 630 African American adolescents (Wang & Huguley, 2012). Wang and Huguley (2012) also found that cultural socialization attenuated the effect of teacher and peer discrimination on student grades. Caughy and colleagues (2002) conducted interviews about parental racial socialization and home environment in 200 families of African American preschool children living in urban settings. Results indicated that children who lived in homes with richer African American culture and received more cultural knowledge showed stronger problem-solving skills and fewer problem behaviors.

## Preparation for Bias

Preparation for bias is teaching children to anticipate discrimination and preparing them to cope with it (Hughes et al., 2006). For example, parents might share with the child their own discrimination experiences at work. Parents might ask their child to work extra hard to get into a good college because they are a minority.

Preparation for bias is the second most studied ethnic-racial socialization dimension (Huguley et al., 2019). Preparation for bias, compared to cultural

American families, 8-14% of parents mentioned racial barriers when they answered questions around parental socialization (Bowman & Howard, 1985; Thornton et al., 1990). In a more recent study that used in-depth interviews to specifically ask about discrimination, only 5% of African American parents reported never mentioning discrimination with their children (Frabutt et al., 2002). These numbers suggested that talking about racial discrimination is prevalent in African American families but is not the most available theme when they are first asked to associate with ethnic-racial socialization. In addition, participants might feel too painful and uncomfortable to mention racial barriers in interviews with strangers (Hughes et al., 2006).

Asian American parents consistently reported lower rates of using preparation for bias compared to African American parents. Although Japanese Americans experienced overwhelming discrimination during World War II, Japanese parents rarely discussed the unjust treatment they received with their children (Nagata & Cheng, 2003). Only 10% of Chinese immigrant parents talked about racial discrimination with their young children (Chen, 1998). One speculation to explain the low rates of using preparation for bias is that culturally, Asian American community were inclined to promote harmony and avoid conflicts with other groups, which hindered them from sharing discrimination in the interviews (Hughes et al., 2006). Benner and Kim (2009a) asked 444 Chinese American parents to rate from 1 to 3 how often they used preparation for bias practices (four total items). Higher score meant more frequent use of preparation for bias. The researchers reported low mean scores, indicating that Chinese American parents do not use preparation for bias

often. However, two individual preparation for bias items received higher frequency of use. More than 70% of Chinese American parents sometimes or often discussed with their children what to do if they were insulted or harassed. More than half of the Chinese American mothers and fathers sometimes or often told their children that because of their race, they needed to perform better in school in order to be as successful as others.

Studies examining youth outcomes of preparation for bias generated mixed findings. Preparation for bias was found to have some effects in helping youths understand and cope with discrimination, however these relationships were weak (Hughes et al., 2006). The protective effect of preparation for bias may not serve its intended function when children foster expectations for discrimination from other racial groups. In a study with 5,000 children of immigrants from Asia, Latin America, and the Caribbean, researchers found that adolescents of color that anticipated discrimination showed more depressive symptoms and conflicts with their parents (Rumbaut, 1994). Smith and colleagues (2003) reported that African American children's perceived racial barriers and racial distrust were negatively associated with their academic achievement.

Researchers also examined the combined effects of the top two commonly used ethnic-racial socialization dimensions cultural socialization *and* preparation for bias in African American youth samples. Researchers found that high levels of cultural socialization and a moderate level of preparation for bias mitigated the negative association between racial discrimination and self-esteem (Harris-Britt et al., 2007). By contrast, a low level of cultural socialization combined with preparation for

bias regardless of high or low level was associated with a negative relation between racial discrimination and self-esteem (Harris-Britt et al., 2007). Therefore, cultural socialization and preparation for bias interact with each other to affect how adolescents feel about themselves when they receive discrimination.

#### Promotion of mistrust

Promotion of mistrust refers to practices that emphasize the need for wariness and distrust in interracial interactions (Hughes et al., 2006). Parents may caution their children to avoid others of a certain race or to be extra careful or skeptical in these interactions. It is different from preparation for bias in the sense that it does not involve teaching coping strategies (Hughes & Johnson, 2001).

Approximately 6-18% of parents reported using this dimensions in quantitative studies among different ethnic and racial groups (Hughes et al., 2006). Hughes and Chen (1997) conducted interviews with 157 African American parents with children 4 to 14 years old. They reported that promotion of mistrust was used less often than preparation for bias, which was used less frequently than cultural socialization. They also found that parents who actually engaged in promotion of mistrust tended to be those that experienced discrimination themselves.

A nuance of this dimension is the distinction between promotion of mistrust towards white people and towards other ethnic minority groups. In one qualitative study with African American parents (Hughes & DuMont, 1993), researchers found that in every focus group, themes of promotion of mistrust with white peers and parents emerged. An example of promoting mistrust towards non-white groups was that immigrant West Indian, Caribbean, and Dominican parents reminded their

children to be skeptical of Black peers born in America due to their negative stereotypes (Pessar, 1995; Waters, 1994, 1999). Little research has investigated this aspect of promotion of mistrust (i.e., distrust white groups versus non-Asian minority groups) in Asian American families.

The youth outcomes for promotion of mistrust have been consistently undesirable. Promotion of mistrust was negatively associated with students' academic outcomes, self-esteem and prosocial behaviors (Huguley et al., 2019; Wang et al., 2020).

Egalitarianism and Silence about Race

Egalitarianism is teaching children to value individual qualities over racial group membership (Hughes et al., 2006). Silence about race is avoiding mention of race in discussion with their children (Hughes et al., 2006). Parents might say to their children, "It doesn't matter if your skin is black, white, or purple. We are all humans." Huguley and colleagues (2019) referred this dimension to strategies that emphasize mainstream cultural values and reduce the role of race in succeeding in mainstream society. Under this dimension, parents may adopt color-blind approach and/or avoid talking about race completely (Huguley et al., 2019).

Two-thirds of African American, White and Latino parents and 22% of Japanese Americans reported that they used egalitarian strategies before (Hughes & Chen, 1999; Phinney & Chavira, 1995). Hamm (2001) discovered that more White parents than African American parents tended to use a color-blind approach, suggesting to their children that they should not notice race.

The frequency of parents using silence about race in the literature is inconsistent. It depends on how silence about race was operationalized in the studies (Hughes et al., 2006). If silence about race was measured as the absence of other ethnic-racial socialization strategies, the percentage of the parents in that category was small (e.g., Caughy et al., 2002; Frabutt et al., 2002; Hughes & Chen, 1999). However, if silence about race was asked as an independent strategy in open-ended questions, for example "When you were a child, were there things your parents, or the people who raised you, did or told you to help you know what it is to be black?" (Bowman & Howard, 1985), the frequency of using this strategy was 20% to 50% (Hughes et al., 2006).

Literature that assess youth outcomes of the egalitarianism and silence about race is scarce (Yasui, 2015). The existing literature have shown that for children of color, egalitarianism and silence about race was associated with suboptimal outcomes (Hughes et al., 2006; Huguley et al., 2019). It was negatively associated with areaspecific school self-esteem and academic grades among Black youths (Bowman & Howard, 1985; Constantine & Blackmon, 2002). One speculation (Spencer, 1983) underlying the negative association between egalitarianism and youths' academic and psychosocial outcomes is that students of color expect equal treatment in the society based on their parents' socialization but encounter a different reality in the real world. As a result, they might feel unprepared for the unequal treatment.

In summary, ethnic-racial socialization is a common approach used by families especially families of color to respond to racially diverse environments (Huguley et al., 2019). I reviewed four dimensions of ethnic-racial socialization—

Cultural Socialization, Preparation for Bias, Promotion of Mistrust, and Egalitarianism and Silence about race. Cultural socialization was associated with positive academic, psychological and social outcomes for youths. Preparation for bias yielded mixed results and merited more research to examine how different amount of preparation for bias may result in different developmental outcomes. Promotion of mistrust was consistently associated with negative youth outcomes. Research about egalitarianism and silence about race was in its beginning stage and it was too early for me to conclude its impact on youths.

#### Ethnic-Racial Socialization and Family Socioeconomic Status

Family socioeconomic status is likely to impact parents' ethnic-racial socialization because parents from different socioeconomic backgrounds will think differently about race and ethnicity and further influence how they talk about these topics with their children. In the integrative model for the study of developmental competencies in minority children, García Coll et al. (1996) also emphasized that parents' socioeconomic resources and how they use these available resources would influence their child's development. Overall, research focusing on the socioeconomic context of ethnic-racial socialization is extremely limited. The research that I found were all conducted with African American or Black-White biracial families. Based on my search using keywords "ethnic racial socialization", "SES", and "Asian American" in APA PsycInfo database on September 16th 2022, there is no published research comparing parental ethnic-racial socialization from high-SES vs. low-SES Asian American families.

Cultural socialization and preparation for bias were more frequently used by parents holding professional jobs than their counterparts with less financial resources in a sample of 157 African American families with children 4 to 14 years old (Hughes & Chen, 1997). Caughy et al. (2002) also found that African American parents with higher income and higher levels of education reported more use of cultural socialization and preparation for bias. Additionally, African American parents with more financial resources were more likely to create an Afrocentric home environment with more household items made of African American cultural elements than their low-income counterparts (Caughy et al., 2002). In a sample of 293 Black-White biracial families, family SES predicted more frequent cultural socialization (Csizmadia et al., 2014). Researchers found that high-SES families were more likely to discuss cultural heritage with their children compared to low-SES families.

### Parental Ethnic-Racial Socialization with Young Children

It is well documented in the literature that children start to process information about race at a young age. As early as three months old, infants showed preference for their own-race faces (Bar-Haim et al., 2006). Nine-month-old infants were able to distinguish their own-race faces from other-race faces (Anzures et al., 2010). Two-year-old toddlers used race to reason about human behaviors (Hirschfeld, 2008). Three-to-five-year-old pre-schoolers used race to identify themselves and others (Feagin & Van Ausdale, 2001). By age five to six, children displayed racial stereotyping and social preferences for own-race people (Killen et al., 2002; Kinzler & Spelke, 2011; Olson et al., 2012).

Despite increasing scientific evidence rejecting the myth that young children do not notice race, parents often underestimate their children's ability to process race. In a recent study (Sullivan et al., 2021), participants were asked to estimate on a slide scale (age in months) to indicate the age at which children first develop certain behaviors, traits, and abilities regarding their race-related development, non-racerelated social development, and general development. In the domain of race-related development, participants were asked five questions: 1) At what age do you think that humans first can categorize faces based on race? The correct answer from the literature is 3 months (Bar-Haim et al., 2006; Kelly et al., 2005; Sangrigoli & de Schonen, 2004). 2) At what age do you think that humans can categorize faces based on race? The correct answer from the literature is 9 months (Anzures et al., 2010). 3) At what age do you think that humans first start associating low-status racial groups with negative traits? The correct answer from the literature is 36 months (Dunham et al., 2013; Newheiser et al., 2014). 4) At what age do you think humans first begin to think about people as being born as members of a particular race? The correct answer from the literature is 48 months (Hirschfeld, 1995). 5) At what age do you think humans first start associating particular racial groups with status (e.g., social status, wealth, power, etc...)? The correct answer from the literature is 47 months (Olson et al., 2012). The researchers then compared the participants' answers with the correct answers from the scientific literature. Results indicated that adults in the United States estimated children's capacities to notice and process race about 4 years and a half later than what the empirical evidence showed (Sullivan et al., 2021). This inaccuracy in adults' knowledge on children's race-related development predicted

their preference for delaying conversations about race with their child (Sullivan et al., 2021). The good news is that when adults were educated specifically on children's capabilities to process race, they expressed willingness to talk about race nearly one-year-and-a-half earlier than those who received intervention about general child development or adults' abilities to understand race (Sullivan et al., 2021).

As far as the author is concerned, there has been few published papers examining parental ethnic-racial socialization among Asian American families of young children (between four and seven years old). One quantitative study and one qualitative study were found and both of them examined preparation for bias in the context of heightened anti-Asian sentiment during the COVID-19 pandemic. In the quantitative study, Ren et al. (in press) found that Chinese American parents infrequently talked to their elementary school-aged children about COVID-19 racial discrimination between March and May 2020. The qualitative study (Wang et al., 2022) examined the complex reasons behind why Chinese American parents hesitated to talk to their elementary school-aged children about racial discrimination although most of them were concerned about racism in American society. Some Chinese American parents in the study believed that children were too young to understand race and racial discrimination. In addition, they worried that focusing on racial discrimination would contribute to their children's feelings of inferiority, which would create more psychological harm for their children.

<u>Place Asian American Child Development in the Context of Asian American History</u> <u>and Contemporary Narratives</u> Asian American is a heterogenous entity (Lowe, 1991). Lowe (1991) described that Asian Americans may be born in Asia or America or in different parts of the world outside of Asia and America. They may be refugees and nonrefugees. They may be raised by parents who identify as Asian and of mixed race. They may live in urban or rural areas. They may have different political ideologies. They may have different levels of education and come from different social class. They may or may not be fluent in English. Hune and Takeuchi (2008) further argued that the interpretation of Asian American is fluid and depends on the individuals and contexts.

A close-up examination of Asian American history will reveal that different ethnic groups have their unique stories of becoming American as well as stories of being discriminated. A comprehensive history of the arriving of Asian Americans is beyond the scope of this paper, however a short immigration history of Chinese Americans is provided to lay a foundation for discussion on how history influences ethnic-racial socialization processes for Chinese American children.

Chinese immigrants were among the earliest Asian immigrants to America, arriving in the 1820s (Holland, 2007; Kiang et al., 2016). They came for the opportunities in the gold mining, railroad, and farming (Kiang et al., 2016). They worked hard and were exploited for their cheap labor by capitalists (Kim, 1999). As their presence increased, they were seen as economic threats by white laborers (Takaki, 1998). This led to a series of anti-Chinese policies. One of the most extreme ones was the 1882 Chinese Exclusion Act, which banned all Chinese from immigrating to America (Takaki, 1998). The 1882 Chinese Exclusion Act is the first federal law that excluded immigrants based on their ethnicity or race in the history of

United States (Kiang et al., 2016). The horrifying term "yellow peril" was used to attack the Asian American group starting in 1897 and pervaded through 1940s (Suzuki, 2002).

In the 1960s, the model minority stereotype towards Asian Americans arose when communities of color advocated for systemic changes during the Civil Rights Movement (Kiang et al., 2016). The model minority stereotype singled out Asian Americans as the academically and economically successful minority group (Juang et al., 2017). Asian Americans were portrayed as diligent people that achieved American Dream through hard work (Yoo et al., 2010). However, this narrative pit Asian American against other groups of color. It contributed to a broader narrative that the reason other communities of color did not accomplish the same level of economic success as Asians was because they did not work hard enough and they were too disruptive (Suzuki, 2002). It completely overlooked the systemic inequity that caused racial injustice and served to reinforce the unjust system (Kiang et al., 2016).

Despite evidence showing that the prevalence of physical and mental health issues among Asian Americans were not low (Gee, 2004; Sue et al., 1995; Sy et al., 1998), the model minority stereotype prevailed (Wong et al., 1998). To this day, Americans assumed that most Americans expected Asian Americans to demonstrate the model minority characteristics – hardworking, high-achieving, and quiet (Chao et al., 2013). A qualitative study interviewing 120 Chinese American adolescents showed that many Asian American youths felt harassed by their peers due to the

perception that Asian American students perform better academically than others (Qin et al., 2007).

Another prominent stereotype towards Asian Americans is the perpetual foreigner stereotype (Juang et al., 2017; Mistry & Kiyama, 2021). Asian Americans are constantly questioned to answer "Where are you *really* from?". They often have to justify their Americanness regardless of their citizenship status, generational and residential length in America (Wu, 2002), even though they feel as American as their peers (Cheryan & Monin, 2005). As a result of the perpetual foreigner stereotypes, Asian American youth felt othered and invisible in schools (Lee et al., 2017). In addition, researchers found that parents' stress over being perceived as perpetual foreigner was associated with their child's higher level of reported discrimination and poorer attitudes towards education (Benner & Kim, 2009a).

In the conceptual model of negotiating marginalization as racial ethnic minorities (Mistry & Kiyama, 2021), model minority and perceptual foreigner were identified as the prevalent master narratives to characterize Asian Americans.

Perpetuated through individuals, institutions, policy and media, these stereotypes have contributed to the marginalization, discrimination and invisibility of Asian American children (Mistry & Kiyama, 2021). This marginalization process is also explained in the construct of adaptive culture in the integrative model for the study of developmental competencies in minority children (García Coll et al., 1996). Minority children and families are influenced by adaptive culture, which is derived from a combination of collective history and current demands. The collective history of being perceived as model minority and perpetual foreigner create current demands for

Asian American children to respond to these stereotypes and master narratives on a day-to-day basis.

A review of ethnic-racial socialization studies shows that most research on ethnic-racial socialization are conducted with African and Latino American families (Hughes et al., 2006). While ethnic minority groups share many similar developmental trajectories, Asian Americans face unique ecological challenges due to a different history of immigration to America (Juang et al., 2017). According to Pew Research Center (2021), 71% of Asian American adults were born in another country. Their experiences of racial discrimination would look very different from those of, for example African American parents who descended from ancestors that experienced slavery. However, studies that examined the historical influences on children of immigrant Asian American parents and its implications for parental ethnic-racial socialization were scarce (Juang et al., 2017; Kiang et al., 2016).

In summary, the unique immigration history of Chinese and Asian American creates different stereotypes and discrimination against Chinese Americans from other groups of color. The historical contexts and contemporary narratives of model minority myth and perceptual foreigner stereotype that Chinese American children live in impact the ethnic-racial socialization strategies of their parents. Yet, little is known about the ethnic-racial socialization processes of young children in immigrant Chinese American families.

## Measures of Asian American Parental Ethnic-Racial Socialization

According to a review study by Juang and colleagues (2017), the most common measure used in studies of Asian American ethnic-racial socialization is the

Ethnic-Racial Socialization Scale, which was developed with African American population by Hughes and Chen (1997). Hughes and Chen (1997) interviewed 157

African American parents with children 4 to 14 years old and explored three aspects of ethnic-racial socialization: cultural socialization (teaching culture and history, and instil racial pride), preparation for bias (preparing for racial discrimination and prejudices), and promotion of mistrust (promoting mistrust towards members of other races). The researchers generated 16 items based on focus group interviews to assess the three dimensions. Some examples were "Read to child Black history books" under the dimension cultural socialization, "Explained to child something child saw on TV that showed poor treatment of Blacks" under the dimension preparation for bias, "Told child to keep distance from Whites" under the dimension promotion of mistrust. Parents were asked to answer whether they engaged in each item and if yes, how often they engaged in the past year.

Hughes and Johnson (2001) added the fourth dimension pluralism in the measure of parents' racial socialization in their study examining the relationship between children's identity exploration process and parent-reported ethnic-racial socialization. They defined pluralism as promoting diversity and connection with other races. Parents filled out a survey of 15 items of parental behaviors and communication to their children about race, which were intended to assess the four dimensions of ethnic-racial socialization. For example, one cultural socialization item was "Talked to child about important people or events in your group's history". One pluralism item was "Talked to child about important people or events in history of different ethnic groups, other than own". For each item, parents were asked to

estimate how many times they engaged in the listed behavior during the past year.

Hughes and Johnson (2001) examined the construct validity of the measure and found that cultural socialization and pluralism dimensions were empirically not distinct from each other.

Tran and Lee (2010) extended the Ethnic Racial Socialization model to a sample of Asian American adolescents. They adapted the 15-item perceived ethnic-racial socialization measure from the Hughes and Johnson study (2001) into a 16-item one. They added two items, one under preparation for bias scale ("Talked to you about expectations others might have about your abilities based on your race/ethnicity") and the other under promotion of mistrust ("Told you to avoid another racial/ethnic group because of its members' prejudice against your racial/ethnic group."). They deleted one item under preparation for bias ("Told child own ethnicity is an important part of self."). They also extended the assessment period from "assess perceived ethnic-racial socialization practices in the past year" to both over the past year and lifetime. This study was among the first few studies examining the multidimensional model of ethnic-racial socialization specifically with Asian American population.

Tran and Lee (2010) supported the three-factor structure of ethnic-racial socialization that involves cultural socialization-pluralism, preparation for bias, and promotion of mistrust. Same as previous results (Hughes & Johnson, 2001), Tran and Lee also found that cultural socialization and pluralism were empirically indistinguishable. Tran and Lee (2010) validated the Ethnic-Racial Socialization Scale with Asian American community, which resulted in a 16-item measure with 5

items on cultural socialization-pluralism, 8 items on preparation for bias, and 3 items on promotions of mistrust.

Juang and colleagues (2017) found in their review article that the second most common scale used in Asian American ethnic-racial socialization studies is Family Ethnic Socialization Measure (Umaña-Taylor & Fine, 2001). This measure was developed from Latino adolescents' self-reports (Umaña-Taylor & Fine, 2001). Different from Ethnic-Racial Socialization Scale (Hughes & Chen, 1997), the Family Ethnic Socialization Measure (Umaña-Taylor & Fine, 2001) did not distinguish between different dimensions of the socialization practices. It focused on capturing the overt (intentional) and covert (not intentional, indirect) aspects of familial ethnic socialization. An example of overt ethnic socialization item was, "My family discusses the importance of knowing about my ethnic/ cultural background". An example of covert ethnic socialization was, "Our home is decorated with things that reflect my ethnic/ cultural background." It consisted of nine questions using a 1-to-5-point Likert scale from 1 representing not at all and 5 representing very much true. Higher scores indicated more familial ethnic socialization.

However, neither Ethnic-Racial Socialization Scale nor Family Ethnic Socialization Measure was initially developed with Asian American community. Therefore, Juang and colleagues developed a new measure, the Asian American Parental Racial-Ethnic Socialization Scale (Juang et al., 2016). They interviewed 6 focus groups (33 Asian American college students in total) and asked them "Do you think most Asian-heritage parents teach their children how to deal with racial/ethnic discrimination? If so, what things do they say/do? Have you ever asked your parents

about racial/ethnic discrimination and prejudice? What did you ask them and what did they say? ". Initially, 81 items of Asian American parental socialization emerged from the interviews. The researchers then dropped 16 unclear and poorly-worded items. Next, they sent the remaining 65 items to experts on this topic for review. Combining the experts' suggestions on adding and deleting certain items to capture the full construct of ethnic-racial socialization, they eventually concluded with 75 items (Juang et al., 2016).

The 75-item Asian American Parental Racial-Ethnic Socialization Scale measured seven dimensions of ethnic-racial socialization (Juang et al., 2016). They were maintenance of heritage culture ("Told you to speak in their heritage language"), becoming American ("Invited American people over to your house"), awareness of discrimination ("Talked to you about why some people will treat you unfairly because of your Asian background"), avoidance of outgroups ("Showed you that you should not be friends with people of certain racial/ethnic backgrounds"), minimization of race ("Told you that racism doesn't exist"), promotion of equality ("Told you that all people are equal regardless of their racial or ethnic background"), and cultural pluralism ("Talked to you about important people or events in the history of racial/ ethnic groups other than your own"). These dimensions measured both racial socialization and ethnic socialization (Juang et al., 2017). It allowed participants to answer as members of both their racial and ethnic groups in mind. Participants were asked to indicate whether their parents have engaged in these behaviors. If yes, they were asked to rate how often on a Likert scale from 1 (never)

to 5 (very often) (Juang et al., 2016). Higher scores indicated more racial and ethnic socialization.

In summary, three existing measures (Hughes & Chen, 1997; Hughes & Johnson, 2001; Tran & Lee, 2010) were derived and adapted from the Ethnic-Racial Socialization Scale (Hughes & Chen, 1997). These measures have evolved to support the three-factor structure of ethnic-racial socialization that includes cultural socialization-pluralism, preparation for bias, and promotion of mistrust. Umaña-Taylor and Fine (2001) developed the Family Ethnic Socialization Measure with Latino adolescents, which captures the overt and covert aspects of familial ethnic socialization. Juang and colleagues (2016) interviewed Asian American college students to develop a specific measure on ethnic-racial socialization processes among Asian Americans—the Asian American Parental Racial-Ethnic Socialization Scale. The 75-item measure involves seven dimensions of ethnic-racial socialization: maintenance of heritage culture, becoming American, awareness of discrimination, avoidance of outgroups, minimization of race, promotion of equality and cultural pluralism.

## Asian American Parental Ethnic-Racial Socialization

Although earlier research on ethnic-racial socialization focused on Black families, more research on Asian American have been published in the last decade, which suggests growing attention to this population (Juang et al., 2017). In this section, I will review the impact of each ethnic-racial socialization dimension on Asian American children and youths.

Overall, family ethnic socialization was positively associated with ethnic identity and psychological well-being in Asian American youths (Nguyen et al., 2015). Asian-heritage parents tended to transmit more positive messages, instilling cultural pride and emphasizing diversity (Juang et al., 2016). They were less likely to pass on messages about discrimination and mistrust than promoting messages about becoming American and showing appreciation for other races (Juang et al., 2016).

Cultural socialization has been consistently associated with positive outcomes for Asian American youths. High level of cultural socialization messages were positively related to stronger ethnic identity (Gartner et al., 2014; Tran & Lee, 2010) and higher self-esteem (Gartner et al., 2014). It was negatively associated with depression symptoms (Liu & Lau, 2013). Atkin et al. (2019) found that cultural socialization moderated the effect of racial discrimination on psychological distress. Specifically, for Asian American adolescents that received low level of cultural socialization, there was a positive association between discrimination and psychological distress. For Asian American adolescents that received high level of cultural socialization, this relation was not significant. In other words, when Asian American adolescents received racial discrimination, those that reported fewer cultural socialization were more likely to feel distressed. This suggested that cultural socialization may be a protective factor for Asian American youths from racial discrimination (Atkin et al., 2019). In the domain of academic outcomes, cultural socialization was associated with higher levels of academic motivation (Huynh & Fuligni, 2008) and more school engagement (Seol et al., 2016). In a qualitative study

interviewing second-generation Asian American parents (Juang et al., 2018), researchers found that second-generation parents wanted to pass on cultural heritage but noted barriers such as lack of cultural knowledge and language to do so.

Studies on preparation for bias have yielded mixed youth outcomes in Asian American families. Benner and Kim (2009a) found that more preparation for bias messages from parents were associated with more feelings of cultural misfit in Chinese American adolescents. Preparation for bias was also related to high level of pessimism and low level of optimism, which in turn were linked with more depressive symptoms (Liu & Lau, 2013). On the other hand, there were also some positive outcomes. Tran and Lee (2011) found that preparation for bias moderated the relation between cross-race friendships and social competition. Specifically, for Asian American youths that received high levels of preparation for bias, cross-race friendship was positively associated with social competence. However, this positive relation did not hold for Asian American adolescents that reported low level of preparation for bias. Seol and colleagues (2016) discovered that the amount of preparation for bias messages mattered in academic outcomes among a Korean American adolescent sample. They found that a moderate level of preparation for bias predicted positive school engagement whereas low level and high level of preparation for bias predicted negative school engagement (Seol et al., 2016). However, it needs to be noted that it is a cross-sectional study and the directionality of this relation should be interpreted with caution.

Promotion of mistrust is generally associated with negative academic achievement and psychosocial adjustment for Asian Americans. Huynh & Fuligni

(2008) reported that promotion of mistrust is negatively associated with academic achievement in Chinese American adolescents. Promotion of mistrust has also been found to be negatively related to ethnic identity for children born in foreign countries (Gartner et al., 2014) and social competence (Tran & Lee, 2010). Promotion of mistrust was positively associated with depression symptoms in Asian American young adults (Liu & Lau, 2013). Atkin et al. (2019) found that promotion of mistrust moderated the effect of racial discrimination on psychological distress. Specifically, for Asian American adolescents reporting high level of promotion of mistrust, there was a positive association between discrimination and psychological distress. The positive link between discrimination and psychological distress did not hold for Asian American youths who reported low level of promotion of mistrust, suggesting that promotion of mistrust may be a risk factor for Asian American adolescents' adjustment (Atkin et al., 2019). During the COVID-19 pandemic, Cheah et al. (2021) found that among Chinese American adolescents, parental promotion of mistrust messages were associated with more internalizing difficulties. The researchers further examined the moderating role of promotion of mistrust on the effect of COVID-19 related racial discrimination on adolescents' internalizing difficulties. They found that Chinese American adolescents who perceived high level of promotion of mistrust from parents were more likely to suffer from the effect of COVID-19 racial discrimination on their internalizing difficulties (Cheah et al., 2021).

Egalitarianism and silence about race is the least studied dimension in the Asian American community. A recent qualitative study investigating racial socialization in Asian American families during a time of racial tension in American

society (eg. increased protests regarding racial injustices experienced by people of color) showed that there were limited racial discussions in Asian American families (Young et al., 2020). Asian American young adults often had to educate their parents on issues about discrimination, racism, and social injustices (Young et al., 2020). As far as the author is concerned, researchers have not examined the specific effects of egalitarianism and silence about race on Asian Americans.

In summary, cultural socialization and promotion of mistrust are associated with more straightforward outcomes among Asian American youths than preparation for bias. Cultural socialization was associated with positive psychological and academic outcomes for Asian American children while promotion of mistrust was linked with more negative outcomes. Preparation for bias yielded mixed outcomes. Researchers found that preparation for bias was curvilinearly moderated the effect of discrimination on school adjustment for Asian American adolescents (Seol et al., 2016). It was unclear whether preparation for bias is a significant moderator between discrimination and other psychosocial outcomes. There was a lack of research on egalitarianism and silence about race in Asian American ethnic-racial socialization processes. In addition, our knowledge about the ethnic-racial socialization processes about Asian Americans derives from middle-class Asian Americans and we know little about how the ethnic-racial socialization processes look like in lower-income Asian American families.

# Current Study

Ethnic-racial socialization is passing messages about race and ethnicity from parents to children and includes four dimensions—cultural socialization, preparation

for bias, promotion of mistrust, and egalitarianism and silence about race (Hughes et al., 2006). The most widely used measure in empirical studies on ethnic-racial socialization is the Ethnic-Racial Socialization Scale (Hughes et al., 2006; Hughes & Chen, 1997). Globally, the construct is associated with a wide range of positive academic and psychosocial outcomes (Huguley et al., 2019).

The majority of the ethnic-racial socialization literature focused on African American and Latino American youths. Ethnic-racial socialization studies with the Asian American community are lacking. In addition, most ethnic-racial socialization scholars conducted research with adolescents and their families and did not examine the socioeconomic context of the family. Therefore, our understanding of the ethnic-racial socialization processes among young children from diverse economic backgrounds is limited. To address these knowledge gaps in ethnic-racial socialization literature, the proposed qualitative study will examine parental ethnic-racial socialization processes among Chinese American middle-and-upper-income and low-income families with young children between 4-7 years old. I want to explore the following questions:

- (a) How do Chinese American mothers pass messages about race and ethnicity to their young children? More specifically What ethnic-racial socialization strategies do they use? How often do they engage in these strategies? Because this is the first study examining this topic, the current study will take an exploratory approach and no hypothesis is proposed.
- (b) How do Chinese American mothers from low-income and middle-andupper-income backgrounds differ in the frequency and content of ethnic-racial

socialization practices? Because this is the first study examining the socioeconomic context of Asian American families' ethnic-racial socialization, the current study will take an exploratory approach and no hypothesis is proposed.

(c) How do Chinese American mothers perceive the effectiveness of their ethnic-racial socialization strategies, and whether they find specific strategies helpful or harmful? The current study will take an exploratory approach and no hypothesis is proposed.

# Chapter 4: Method

# **Participants**

Fifty-seven Chinese American mothers (Mage = 37.14, SD = 4.99) of 4-to-7-year-old young children (Mage = 5.63, SD = 0.82, female n = 33, 58%) participated in the study. Data were collected between October 2019 and January 2020 by two PhD-level researchers and me. Data included family demographic characteristics via a short survey and 45-minute-to-90-minute semi-structured mother interview on parental ethnic-racial socialization practices and beliefs. Family demographic data included child age and gender, mother age, mother marital status, mother education, and family annual income.

Demographic characteristics of the sample were shown in Table 1. A total of fifty-seven Chinese American mothers (Mage = 37.14, SD = 4.99) of 4-to-7-year-old young children (Mage = 5.63, SD = 0.82, female n = 33, 58%) from Maryland (n = 24) and New York (n = 33) participated in the study. Fifty-six of them are immigrants and one mother was born in America. The average years of stay in the U.S. among immigrant mothers were 15. Five percent of the participants' children were four years old (n = 3), 42% five years old (n = 24), 37% six years old (n = 21), and 16% seven years old (n = 9). Of the total fifty-seven Chinese American mothers, fifty were married (88%), three divorced (5%), two single (3.5%), one married and separated (1.8%), and one in a relationship (1.8%). With regard to mothers' highest education level, four finished primary school (7%), seven finished middle school (12%), ten finished high school (17.5%), six finished vocational school (11%), twenty-two obtained an undergraduate degree (38.5%), and eight obtained a graduate degree (14%).

The participants' family income levels vary. Two families (3.5%) had an annual income of under \$4,000. One family (1.5%) had an annual income of \$4,000 to \$9,999. Thirty-two families (56%) had an annual income of \$10,000 to \$59,999. Four families (7%) had an annual income of \$60,000 to \$80,000. Eighteen families (32%) had an annual income of more than \$100,000. According to National Center for Children in Poverty, a family of four with two children earning below \$51,852 was considered low-income families in 2019. However, according to 2018 estimates released by the U.S. Department of Housing, an annual salary of \$58,450 or less for a single resident living in New York metro area is considered low-income. Considering the location of the family, the family annual income, family size, and the low-income guideline set by National Center for Children in Poverty and U.S. Department of Housing, we used \$60,000 as the cut-off of annual family income to distinguish groups of low-income mothers and middle-and-upper-income mothers. This resulted in 36 low-income mothers and 21 middle-and-upper-income mothers in our sample.

# <u>Procedures</u>

This study is part of a larger study on parental ethnic-racial socialization in early childhood. It was approved by the Institutional Review Board (IRB) at University of Maryland, College Park. Participants were recruited through study flyers displayed in public spaces in Maryland, such as Chinese grocery stores, Chinese language schools, personal contact of the researchers, social media (e.g. Wechat, the most frequently used chat application by Chinese), and community organizations. The researchers also collaborated with a New York non-profit organization to recruit families from New York City.

Once the participants expressed their interest to participate, the researchers introduced the study to them, and scheduled a time to meet the mother. The participant could choose to meet at their home or a quiet public space in Maryland or in New York City, for example a study room at a public library. When the researcher and the mother met, the mother was first asked to fill out a demographic survey. The researcher then conducted a semi-structured interview with the mother about their family ethnic-racial socialization processes. The participant chose their preferred language (Chinese or English) to participate in the interview. Forty-four out of fifty-seven participants chose to conduct the interview in Chinese. In some situations, due to limited availability of the mother, the semi-structured interview was conducted through phone (n=34). The mother received a Target gift card of \$40 for participating in this study. The data collection process was started in October 2019 and finished in January 2020.

#### Interview Questions

#### **Ethnic-Racial Socialization Process**

The interview questions were adapted from the Ethnic-Racial Socialization Scale (Hughes & Chen, 1997). The researchers chose this measure over the Asian American Parental Racial-Ethnic Socialization Scale (Juang et al., 2016) because Juang et al.'s measure was developed through interviewing Asian American college students while the current study focused on young children of 4-to-7-year-old. The researchers compared both measures and decided that the Ethnic-Racial Socialization Scale (Hughes & Chen, 1997) was more developmentally appropriate for the current study. The interviewers first introduced the concepts of ethnic-racial socialization.

They defined each ethnic-racial socialization dimension (cultural socialization, preparation for bias, promotion of mistrust, and egalitarianism and silence about race) and asked the participant how often they engaged in each of these dimensions and what specific ethnic-racial socialization practices they engaged in. The participants were also asked whether they found these ethnic-racial socialization methods helpful and/or harmful, and why. The specific interview questions in both English and Chinese were attached in Appendices.

## Data Analysis

Interview Transcription and Translation

Interviews were transcribed verbatim in its original language. The interviews conducted in Chinese were transcribed verbatim by a Chinese transcription service. The Chinese transcriptions were then translated to English by undergraduate and graduate research assistants before coding. Undergraduate research assistants transcribed the interviews conducted in English verbatim.

## Coding Process

Three coders were involved in this study. One was a postdoctoral fellow with extensive experience in qualitative analysis, and two were graduate students (including myself) new to the process of qualitative analysis. The postdoctoral fellow provided 30 hours of training to the graduate students on the qualitative coding process. All of the transcripts were coded in the qualitative research analysis web application Dedoose (Version 9.0.54) using content analysis (Elo & Kyngäs, 2008). We used content analysis to code the data, which is a research method for making replicable and valid inferences from data to their context (Krippendorff, 1980). It is

suitable for describing, quantifying and analyzing multifaceted phenomena and qualitative data (Elo & Kyngäs, 2008; Krippendorff, 1980). Content analysis focuses on meanings, intentions, consequences and context (Downe-Wamboldt, 1992). Content analysis may be used in an inductive way or deductive way (Elo & Kyngäs, 2008). Deductive content analysis is used when the structure of analysis is operationalized based on existing theories and literature review (Kyngas & Vanhanen, 1999). Researchers move from the general structure (e.g., an existing theory) to the specific observation in the deductive content analysis (Burns & Grove, 2005). Inductive content analysis is used when there is no previous knowledge about the phenomena (Lauri & Kyngas, 2005). Researchers move from the specific instances and combine the observation into a general structure in the inductive content analysis (Chinn & Kramer, 1983).

For the current study, we used a combination of deductive and inductive approach. Ethnic-racial socialization process in Chinese American families was operationalized based on the existing Ethnic-Racial Socialization Scale (Hughes & Chen, 1997) and the interview questions were structured in a deductive way. The participants were asked two sets of questions for each ethnic-racial socialization dimension (cultural socialization, preparation for bias, promotion of mistrust, egalitarianism and silence about race). The first set of our research questions revolved around the frequency and content of each ethnic-racial socialization dimension, so we developed codes "frequency" and "current practices". The second set of our research questions asked the mothers whether they think the ethnic-racial socialization strategies were helpful or harmful, and why, so we developed codes

"helpful/harmful", "helpful", "harmful". A categorization matrix (see Table 2) was developed to code data into the four dimensions of the Ethnic-Racial Socialization Scale (cultural socialization, preparation for bias, promotion of mistrust, and egalitarianism and silence about race). These four dimensions became the four categories of the deductive content analysis process. In addition to the deductive approach, we also adopted the inductive approach. There was no prior knowledge about the ethnic-racial socialization processes in Chinese American families with young children and in low-income Chinese American families. Therefore, the researchers remained an open mind to observe and capture the unique practices and the perception of the four dimensions in low-income Chinese American families' ethnic-racial socialization processes. The researchers synthesized their observation into a general structure in the inductive content analysis.

Three trained coders read and re-read all the transcripts to become familiar with the entire body of the interview data. We formed early impressions of the data and jot down notes to learn "what is going on" (Bengtsson, 2016). In Table 3, I used cultural socialization dimension as an example to illustrate the development of initial codes.

With this shared initial coding framework and the initial codes, the three coders then independently coded five randomly selected transcripts. Coders held weekly meetings to review our notes and discuss the codes. During this process, we continued to identify new codes from the interview data using an inductive approach. We met to compare the coding results and discussed our thinking process to resolve discrepancies. We refined our codes through continuous discussion as we reviewed

more transcripts. For example, we added more codes related to cultural socialization practices (e.g., visits to China, holiday celebrations, promotion of cultural values) in addition to the initial ones (e.g., Chinese language use/ teaching, eat Chinese food, discussion about history/ culture, exposure to Chinese books/ media). We color coded the structure of our codebook, with black being the first level parent codes followed by child codes in red. Table 4 demonstrated the final cultural socialization codes in the codebook. The complete codebook is shown in Table 5.

Next, the experienced coder set up a code application test on Dedoose with a random sample of 20% of the finalized codes. The two graduate student coders took the test and inter-rater reliability was calculated. Cohen's kappa was .82 for cultural socialization dimension, .79 for preparation for bias, .75 for promotion of mistrust, and .85 for egalitarianism and silence about race, which indicated strong agreement (McHugh, 2012). Then the two graduate student coders independently coded the remaining transcripts. The coders finished the coding process in November 2021.

After that, themes were identified using content analysis (Bengtsson, 2016). Theme is an overall concept of underlying meaning that answers the question "How?" (Graneheim & Lundman, 2004). Once the categories and themes were identified, I started the analysis and the write-up process. When performing a content analysis, researchers can choose between the manifest and latent level (Bengtsson, 2016). In a manifest analysis, the researcher stays close to the original text in the transcripts and its context (Burnard, 1991). In a latent analysis, the researcher aims to find hidden meanings in the text (Bengtsson, 2016). In the current study, I performed the content analysis in a combination of manifest and latent analysis. In the result section, I

analyzed the transcripts in a manifest level by staying close to the text and quoting the interviewees' original words. In the discussion section, I interpreted the data in a latent level, uncovering the hidden meaning beyond the original text. I was not only concerned with what the interviewees said, but also what they did not say, their tones of saying what they said, laughter and silence in between their words.

One unique characteristic of qualitative content analysis is that it allows quantification in which codes are counted (Bengtsson, 2016). Combining a qualitative approach with quantification helps the researchers see a pattern in their data and understand why a pattern exists in certain contexts (Morgan, 1993). In the current study, the frequency and practices of using each ethnic-racial socialization dimension were counted. The number of the participants evaluating whether each dimension was helpful or harmful was also counted. By counting these codes, I aimed to see patterns in how often Chinese American mothers used each dimension, what specific strategies they used, and whether they found these ethnic-racial socialization strategies helpful. I also used chi-square test to compare the use of ethnic-racial socialization strategies between low-income and middle-and-upper-income mothers. I wanted to understand whether socioeconomic context influenced how Chinese American mothers used ethnic-racial socialization strategies.

# Chapter 5: Results

# <u>Cultural Socialization (CS)</u>

Frequency

Of the 57 participants being interviewed, 29 mothers (51.9%) often used cultural socialization, 17 mothers (29.8%) sometimes used it, and 2 mothers (3.5%) rarely used it. None of the mothers never used cultural socialization.

The 57 participants consisted of 36 low-income mothers and 21 middle-and-upper-income mothers. The summary of the frequency of using each ethnic-racial socialization dimension among the participants was attached below (see Table 6). Almost 50% of the low-income mothers (n=16, 44.4%) and more than 60% of the middle-and-upper-income mothers (n=13, 61.9%) used cultural socialization often. Approximately 30% of both groups of mothers sometimes used cultural socialization. None of the middle-and-upper-income mother rarely or never used cultural socialization. Two low-income mothers (5.6%) rarely used cultural socialization and none of the low-income mothers never used cultural socialization. A chi-square test of independence was performed to examine the relation between income level and frequency of using cultural socialization. The relation between these variables was insignificant,  $x^2$  (3, N=57) =2.412, p=0.491, indicating that these two variables were independent of each other.

#### **Current Practices**

CS practices as family routines. Eating Chinese food (n=26, 46%), celebrating holidays (n=21, 37%), discussing culture and history (n=15, 26%), using Chinese language (n=22, 39%), and exposing their child to Chinese books and media

(n=20, 35%) were the most frequently used practices of cultural socialization among Chinese American families. Frequency of each code was summarized in Table 7. Mothers reported these practices as their family lifestyles and routines. This supported previous literature on how cultural socialization was often the first thing that parents of color talked about when they were asked to share their ethnic-racial socialization practices (Hughes et al., 2006). All of the ethnic-racial socialization practices used by the participants were summarized in Figure 1.

*Use multiple CS practices together.* The mothers not only mentioned using cultural socialization practices, but they also mentioned using multiple practices together. For example, one mother shared how she used eating Chinese food (e.g., zongzi), celebrating holidays (e.g., Dragon Boat Festival) and discussing culture and history (e.g., the story of Qu Yuan, a Chinese poet and politician during the Warring States period, c. 340 BCE – 278 BCE) at the same time: "When we ate zongzi during the Dragon Boat Festival, I told him the story of Qu Yuan jumping into the river."

Storytelling as a powerful tool in CS practices. Storytelling was a unifying theme for multiple cultural socialization practices. Parents thought it was a digestible, attractive, and developmentally appropriate form for their young children.

Storytelling served as a good scaffold for deeper cultural learning. For example, the story of Sun Wu Kong [Monkey Sun], portrayed in the book Journey to the West, was a reading that Chinese American mothers in our sample liked to share with their children. Wendy, a 37-year-old mother of a 5-year-old daughter from a middle-and-upper-income background, shared that she and her husband used Journey to the West

to discuss culture and history with their daughter and further encourage the child to use Chinese at home.

Utilize different media to foster cultural learning naturally. Teaching culture, in Chinese American mothers' opinions should not be a lecturing process from parents to children. They preferred using different media to pique their children's curiosity so that cultural learning happens naturally and gradually (based on children's developmental levels). Bing, a 39-year-old mother of a 5-year-old daughter from a low-income background explained:

I think it just happened. Don't talk about it deliberately. When you talk about it deliberately, the child will think you are passing something to her. Inadvertently, in daily life or watching TV or chatting, when it comes to this aspect, I will add my own things.

# Helpful or Harmful

When the participants were asked whether they think cultural socialization is helpful or harmful, 44 mothers (77.2%) perceived cultural socialization as helpful, and only 1 mother (1.8%) perceived it as harmful. Five mothers (8.8%) regarded it as mixed and 1 mother (1.8%) regarded it as neutral. The rest of the mothers (n=6, 10.5%) either felt uncertain about the effect of cultural socialization or felt cultural socialization may have some harm but could not think of anything particular at the moment. Perception of the four ethnic-racial socialization dimensions among 57 Chinese American mothers was summarized in Table 8 and Figure 2.

CS strengthens family and community bonds. Mothers noted that cultural socialization practices can strengthen family and community bonds. Within the family, mothers mentioned dumpling night as a family activity, which brought joy to parent-child relationships. During holidays, eating Chinese food together with other

Chinese American families provided an opportunity for fostering friendship and strengthening Chinese American community bonds.

CS promotes cultural understanding and positive Chinese identity. The participants shared that cultural socialization helps their child understand Chinese history, culture, and language. Learning more about their own heritage helped to promote connection to China, cultural pride, and positive Chinese identity. For example, Zhan, a 40-year-old mother of a 6-year-old daughter from a low-income family shared how learning about Chinese history and historical figures would create role models for her daughter and make her proud of being Chinese. Furthermore, cultural socialization promoted learning about other cultures. Vivian, a 33-year-old mother of a 7-year-old son from a low-income family, shared that learning Chinese extended curiosity for other cultures for her child. She wanted to enroll him in language courses in addition to Chinese when he grew up so that he could learn and understand other countries.

CS is fun and developmentally appropriate. Chinese American mothers regarded cultural socialization as fun and thus developmentally appropriate for young children. It came naturally for parents to use. Mothers mentioned that making Chinese food (e.g., dumplings) together, reading stories about Chinese history and watching cartoon about Chinese figures is fun for their children. It is easy to engage with their children when they use cultural socialization in a fun way!

Too much CS may hinder acculturation. Seven mothers shared the potential harm of using too much cultural socialization. One mother Pinlan (a 32-year-old mother of a 5-year-old son from the low-income group), talked about too much

cultural socialization may cause difficulties for children when they need to interact with people from different cultures. Two mothers worried that too much cultural socialization might cause bicultural identity conflict. For example, Cheng, a 30-yearold mother of a 6-year-old son from a low-income family, worried that her child may be confused about being Chinese or American in the future. In addition, two mothers worried that learning two languages (English and Chinese) simultaneously at an early age might impair language development in English. For example, Yusi, a 34-year-old mother of a 6-year-old daughter from a middle-and-upper-income background, expressed the concern of their child spending too much energy learning Chinese, which may influence their English language ability. She stressed to the interviewer that, "They need English language. And they need to be able to interact with others in English, and be very, very native.". Three mothers emphasized the importance of striking a balance between Chinese culture and mainstream American culture. For example, Gaoyue, a 29-year-old mother of a 6-year-old daughter from a middle-andupper-income family believed that cultural socialization will have some harm only when the balance is not handled well by the parents. She said:

If we talk about harm, it's really a matter of balance. For anything, if you do it too much...for example, if you only let the child connect with Chinese culture, you only celebrate Chinese holidays, do not eat American food, do not celebrate American holidays, and...of course in school they teach American history. But if the parent said, no, this is not important, and only lets the child learn Chinese culture. If you purposefully shield some things, but then forcefully indoctrinate Chinese culture to the child, you will cause an imbalance. This will surely impact the child. But, as long as the balance is good, there will not be negative impacts.

#### *Preparation for Bias (PB)*

Frequency

In the interview, preparation for bias was defined as promoting children's awareness of discrimination and preparing them to cope with discrimination. More than half of the participants (n=31, 54.4%) reported that they have never used preparation for bias. Eleven mothers (19.3%) rarely used it. Eight mothers (14%) sometimes used it and 1 mother (1.8%) often used it.

More than 60% of the low-income mothers (n=23, 63.9%) never used it, yet only 38% of the middle-and-upper-income mothers (n=8) never used this strategy. Ten percent of low-income mothers (n=4, 11.1%) rarely used preparation for bias whereas a higher percentage of mothers from the higher income group rarely used this strategy (n=7, 33.3%). However, a chi-square test of independence showed that there was no significant association between income and frequency of using preparation for bias,  $x^2$  (4, N=57) =6.764, p=0.149.

# **Current Practices**

Compared to cultural socialization, Chinese American mothers showed more diversity and less consensus in how they would prepare their children for bias. Some mothers chose to prepare their children for bias proactively by sharing their own discrimination experiences, encouraging their children to work harder academically, and seeking expert knowledge on how to prepare children for bias. Some mothers chose to employ reactive strategies. They helped their children develop coping strategies after their children experience bias in life. One strategy Chinese American mothers liked to use to help their children cope with discrimination was promoting ethnic and racial pride. In their conversation with their children about preparing for

bias, 9 mothers deliberately minimized discussion about racial discrimination. One mother showed powerlessness in countering racial discrimination.

Some mothers talked about PB in the context of working extra hard in education. Seven mothers encouraged their children to work hard academically to prepare for high standards expected of Asian Americans. The interviewees recognized that societal expectations are higher for Asian American children possibly due to the model minority stereotypes. For example, Yusi, a 34-year-old mother of a 6-year-old daughter from a middle-and-upper-income background, said, "because you're Asian, sometimes the bar is higher, and for you to be successful in the future, if you want more options, it sometimes, grades do matter. Like you need to try your best.". In the area of education, a topic that parents of Asian heritage pay close attention to, many Chinese American mothers mentioned the challenges of college admission processes facing Asian American applicants. Anna, a 35-year-old mother of a 6-year-old daughter from a middle-and-upper-income level shared:

Because we did talk about college admission bias that Asians need to score like at least 200 [points] more than a Caucasian peer, and maybe three, or more than 300 or 400 than the Hispanic or ah, African American applicants. Um, that's the truth. So, I don't think that will change very much. So... but we do need to work hard about discrimination.

Some mothers asked their children to work hard academically so that they would not be looked down upon by others. For example, Bing, a 39-year-old mother of a 5-year-old daughter from a low-income background said, "You belong to the weak, the weak group. The only thing you can do is talk less, do more things, and do what you should do." "Talk Less, Do More" is a colloquial Chinese idiom. It reflects that in Chinese culture, action and hard work is highly valued. It is more valued than speaking up. Some Chinese American mothers brought these traditional Chinese

values to America and chose to raise their children to think like that. This parenting goal differs from the mainstream American culture that emphasizes speaking up. It is a reflection of some Chinese American mothers' traditions and cultural legacies in their child-rearing practices (García Coll et al., 1996). One low-income mother Ms. Liang, 32-year-old with a 6-year-old daughter, mentioned taking pride in doubling your efforts for academic success, "It is good to redouble your efforts. Show them. You should be proud at least once".

Some mothers employed proactive strategies. Fourteen mothers prepared their children proactively for biases and discrimination. Two mothers prepared proactively to make their children understand what unfair treatment or discrimination look like in the society. One mother used proactive preparation for bias as a good opportunity to build trust with the child. She wanted to provide a safe space for her child so that they can share anything with her. One mother talked about reaching out to therapists and seeking expert knowledge on how to prepare child for bias.

Seven mothers shared their own discrimination experiences with their children to prepare them for potential bias. For example, one of them, Francesco, a 37-year-old mother of a 7-year-old son from low-income background, shared that she was treated unfairly at workplace. She was treated as a model minority and was demanded to work harder than her "American" colleagues. She was not trusted when she asked for sick leave:

For example, I would explain things to him, when he doesn't believe he's a Chinese or why are Chinese being looked down upon by others, then I said to him, for example in my work place, even if I do a lot, but if someone else who is American takes day off every day, they will not be fired, but if I ask for a sick leave, they will say why do you want to call in sick, and then they ask you to bring some documents to prove myself sick. If others were not Chinese, they did not ask these things, because they think that Chinese people must work hard, you can't ask for leave, you

can't do this or that. So when I go to explain to them that we, Chinese work in places where there are mainly Americans, there will be some different treatment. They (the children) sometimes don't believe what I said, I would tell them this example, this is what I experienced. So sometimes you shouldn't let people think you are easily being bullied.

Furthermore, all of the seven mothers were from low-income backgrounds. Although there is a possibility that mothers experienced discrimination but did not share that with their children and thus not captured by this theme, the existing ratio of low-income mothers to middle-and-upper-income mothers who experienced discrimination was alarming. These data showed that low-income families were more vulnerable to social stratification mechanisms, namely racism, prejudice, discrimination and oppression outlined in García Coll et al.'s model (1996).

Some of these Chinese American mothers hoped that by sharing their own experiences, they can help their children develop coping strategies. "I shared my experience with him about what I encountered. He will definitely have his own ideas. If he encounters this situation himself, he will do something. After considering this problem, if he encounters it again, he will know what to do." Dalia, a 35-year-old mother of a 7-year-old daughter from a low-income background said. Other mothers shared with their child the experience of being discriminated but decided not to advise on how to cope with it because they wanted to respect their child's unique life experiences. For example, Monica, a 34-year-old mother of a 5-year-old daughter from a low-income background shared:

At most I just tell him, "I used to be like this", but I won't discuss with him what you should do in the future, or what you should learn from me. ... My experience is different from what he experiences. My age, what I experienced at that time, is so different from what he has now. Even if I told him, he... everyone experiences different things.

Some mothers employed reactive strategies. Five mothers shared that they helped children develop strategies to cope with racial discrimination after the child shared experiences of ethnic or racial victimization. For example, Tan, a 43-year-old mother from a middle-and-upper-income background taught her 5-year-old son how to defend himself when other people laughed at his food:

I can immediately say that he laughed at your meal because he didn't know what your meal was, he didn't understand how to respect it [food and culture]. To take advantage of this opportunity, I will give him some mental preparations, and next time, if there are similar situations, he will naturally use this method to defend himself, knowing this happened because the other person did not understand [culture] and so he might not see it as discrimination. In turn, he will just think that that kid is ridiculous, because he is ignorant.

A strategy that two mothers used to prepare their child for bias reactively and help their children cope with racial discrimination was to promote ethnic-racial pride. For example, Bing, a 39-year-old mother with a 5-year-old daughter from low-income background, believed that promoting ethnic-racial pride can protect the child's mental health after she was discriminated. This is an example of mothers combining cultural socialization and preparation for bias to mitigate the negative effect of racial discrimination on child mental health.

Mothers minimize discussion about racial discrimination. During the interviews, 9 Chinese mothers (16%) tried to reduce the amount of talking about race or racial discrimination when they used preparation for bias. One low-income mother Ning (38-year-old with a 7-year-old daughter) emphasized the need to study well as a minority in this society, but deliberately not want to talk about the potential discrimination a racial minority might face. "You just have to do what you should do, what you shouldn't have, just don't do it. I didn't communicate with children deliberately that we are a minority. I just emphasized to them that you need to study

well. It is good for you to study well. You study for yourself, not for me." While the mothers often recognized the existence of racial discrimination towards Chinese Americans, they did not want to pass this impression to their children. They did not want their children to feel inferior as a Chinese American. They also did not want children to associate all difficulties or challenges they encounter in life with being a minority. Liping, a 40-year-old mother of a 6-year-old daughter from a low-income background shared:

Mother: When we (the parents), or other Chinese American people were discriminated against outside [of home], I have shared how they responded. But I did not say to my kids that you are a racial minority, so there is a possibility of being discriminated. I didn't say things like that.

Interviewer: Why didn't you share these with your kids?

Mother: I'm afraid when he encounters a little thing, he would think about this aspect.

### Low-income parents lack social capital to counter racial discrimination.

Although only one low-income mother explicitly talked about her feelings of powerlessness if her child experiences racial discrimination, the compelling story and honest revelation the mother shared was worth our attention. Maria, a low-income mother of a 5-year-old son compared the available resources in her family with those in a middle-class Chinese American family that she knew if they both had to deal with racial discrimination. She was happy for that Chinese American family, who fought for their child. Yet, she did not know what to do if similar incident happened to her child.

Because if you are really discriminated against, if you give him some preparations at home, then he may be better able to survive it. We've heard about another child's experience. The boy was racially discriminated. If we were his parents, we would not know what to do. But fortunately, his parents are actually not marginalized in the United States. They work in American companies. They are still Chinese immigrants, also immigrants, first-generation immigrants, not second-generation immigrants. His parents worked in American companies, and they were also exposed to the

mainstream American life and society. In the end, they were able to help their children very well. In fact, I have thought that if my child encounters such a thing, how can we help our children with our disadvantaged position? We don't have excellent backgrounds like the parents of that child, working in large companies, or with a high-level education. At least they encountered this problem, a circle of American friends around them also supported them. The problem is obvious. The child thinks he has been wronged, and the school principal sent a letter, [implying] that the child's performance was not good. This is a big blow to the child. Then the parents' went back to the school. They fought hard for it. They got a lawyer and fought until the end. If my child experienced such a big thing, like other people wronged him, he may be able to get through it, but he would feel very struggling in his heart for a long time. We are ordinary people, what should we do when we encounter something like this, I don't know. I am also very worried about this kind of thing, and I don't know what to do.

Maria's voice needs to be heard. She demonstrates that low-income families are not only more vulnerable to racial discrimination, but they also need more resources to respond to discriminatory experiences. Anti-discrimination resources need to be especially delivered to low-income families because they do not have the social capital as their higher-income counterparts. Knowing that they have agency to combat racial discrimination will also help them reduce fear and stress of living as a minority with few resources.

Mothers tell their child not to treat others unfairly. While Chinese American parents worried that their own child might experience prejudice and discrimination in the society, they transformed their understanding of the negative impact of racial discrimination into instilling radical empathy to their child. Two mothers mentioned teaching their children not to be mean to others. For example, Cathy, a 32-year-old mother of a 6-year-old daughter from a middle-and-upper-income family taught her child not to say mean words or hurtful words to others. Another mother Meining, a 35-year-old mother of a 6-year-old daughter from a low-income family educated her child to develop an anti-bully mindset:

Because I haven't really thought that the kids in America would encounter these situations. But previously I have seen some people post videos...because there were some Asian kids in America who encountered this [discrimination]. So I would show my kids separately, and tell them not to be like that--not to bully those weaker than you. But I haven't thought about how to prevent them.

# Helpful or Harmful

Nineteen mothers (33.3%) perceived preparation for bias as helpful and eleven mothers (19.3%) perceived it as harmful. Eighteen mothers (31.6%) had mixed feelings about this method. The rest of the mothers (n=9, 15.8%) either felt unsure about the effect of preparation for bias or did not answer this question directly.

PB paints a realistic picture and teaches coping strategies for ethnic-racial bullying and discrimination. Eight mothers (14%) in our sample recognized that preparation for bias paints a realistic picture of the existence of bias and discrimination in American society. Twenty-five mothers (43.9%) believed that preparation for bias is helpful in teaching coping strategies for ethnic-racial bullying and discrimination. Children would be more ready to face bias if their parents prepare them for it in advance. They thought that the child would not be as scared if they were informed of the potential bias. The awareness of bias could help children cope with discrimination when they encounter it. Changyin, a 33-year-old mother of a 5-year-old son from a middle-and-upper-income family mentioned the benefit of attributing ethnic-racial bullying to external factors so that the child would not blame themselves:

A benefit lies in a child's attribution. For example, if he is bullied, he will not attribute it to himself because he is not doing well, instead it is the other's problem. The other party has prejudice and discrimination. I can't change it. I can't change his discrimination against Asians, so I don't blame myself.

PB encourages child to work harder. Five mothers (8.8%) mentioned that preparation for bias had the benefit of encouraging their child to work harder. All of the five mothers were from the low-income group. They recognized that minority children may need to put in more effort to receive the same result, and therefore they would encourage their child to redouble their efforts. They believed that working extra hard would make the child a better and stronger person, and possibly less likely to be negatively impacted by bias. On the contrary, two mothers from the middle-and-upper-income group believed that preparation for bias forced their children to work harder, and it was seen as harmful to the child. These two mothers did not want their child to feel that they had to work extra hard because of their racial background. One 45-year-old mother Lan from a middle-and-upper-income family felt hesitant to share the worry with her 6-year-old son and to demand him to work harder in fear of hurting his racial identity.

(talking about the Harvard Admissions Lawsuit) Um, I did not want it to go as far as telling him as an Asian, you have to work harder, because that's very much against my belief. Why should you work harder because of your racial background? ...But the truth is, in reality, you probably have to. But I haven't touched that yet. Um, I don't want him to feel that because of my racial background. I need to do something else.

From the interview transcripts, it was clear that Chinese American mothers' ethnic-racial socialization was influenced by the historical narrative of model minority stereotypes, which caused current pressure for their children. While many mothers worry about the high expectation the society has for their children, low-income mothers and middle-and-upper-income mothers had different attitudes and responses to their observation. Low-income mothers channelled this worry to encourage their children to work harder and found this strategy helpful. Mothers from

the higher-income group questioned the fairness of the system and believed that asking their child to work harder due to high societal expectations for Asian Americans was harmful to their child's racial identity development.

PB overemphasizes the role of race and negatively affects children's mental health. Contemplating the effect of preparation for bias, some Chinese immigrant mothers (n=14, 24.6%) from both income groups worried that it overemphasized the role of race and instilled negative thoughts in their child's mind. These mothers were afraid that preparing for bias would make their child overly sensitive to race and race related topics. In addition, the child would feel stressed out or upset without even having experienced racism. Children may anticipate possible bias and have a negative outlook into their future in the U.S. Twenty-five mothers (43.9%) expressed the concern of preparation for bias casting negative psychological shadow on children's minds and negatively affect children's mental health. In these mothers' opinions, telling children that they will encounter bias due to their minority identity would create unnecessary fear, lower self-esteem, and decrease sense of pride in their Chinese ethnicity. For example, Gaoyue, a 29-year-old mother of a 6-year-old daughter from a middle-and-upper-income family said:

Because you are actually instilling in her these negative thoughts. Let's say, both Americans and Chinese people put in the same amount of work. If the person is American, he will achieve better success under the same circumstances, or at least they have a higher probability of achieving success. You (the Chinese person) will instead have to put in more work to get the same result as the American. This will make (my daughter) think...basically I would be telling her that society is not equal for her. Although she hasn't experienced the inequality, you are already telling her. This will make her think that as a Chinese person...she will feel disgusted that she is Chinese. Because this was not her choice-- "You gave birth to me, but I do not want to become this way; I don't want to experience different treatment. But I cannot choose, because you made the choice for me." She will come to dislike herself. I think the negative impact is greater than the positive impact.

#### Promotion of Mistrust

## Frequency

During the interviews, the participants were told that using promotion of mistrust referred to emphasizing the need for wariness and distrust in interracial interactions. Parents may caution their children to avoid others of a certain race or to be extra careful when interacting with people from a certain racial group. The majority of the participants (n=38, 66.7%) expressed that they never used promotion of mistrust. Approximately one-fifth of the mothers rarely used it (n=10, 17.5%) and one-tenth of the mothers sometimes used it (n=5, 8.8%). None of the mothers often used it.

The frequency breakdown of promotion of mistrust across low-income and middle-and-upper-income groups showed a similar pattern -63.9% vs. 71.4% mothers never used it, 19.4% vs. 14.3% mothers rarely used it, 8.3% vs. 9.5% mothers sometimes used it, 0% vs. 0% mothers often used it. A chi-square test of independence was then performed to examine the relation between income level and frequency of using promotion of mistrust. The relation between these variables was insignificant,  $x^2$  (3, N=57) =0.577, p=0.902, indicating that these two variables were independent of each other.

#### **Current Practices**

Among the mothers that used promotion of mistrust in their life, 7 mothers encouraged avoidance of certain ethnic and racial groups and 1 mother talked about using this dimension only when the child is bullied.

Encourage avoidance of certain ethnic or racial group. Less than 15% of the mothers (n=7, 12.3%) mentioned reminding their child to be cautious about certain ethnic or racial group. Of the seven mothers, six of them were from the low-income group. They mentioned negative stereotypes of Black children and Mexican children and warned their children to be extra careful of these groups. These mothers assumed that children from a certain racial or ethnic background were the same and generalized the qualities they observed from these children to be applied to all Black children or Mexican children (e.g., "How do you say it, but most of the children from Mexico I have contact with are relatively bad." said Fang, a 39-year-old mother of a 5-year-old daughter from a low-income family). The mothers that used promotion of mistrust worried about the negative environment that children from certain racial backgrounds are in. For example, Ling, a mother of a five-year-old son from a lowincome family said, "If you have a lot of dark skin around you, you can make friends. But, how to say it, you must pay attention, because after all, their environment is not very good."

Use PM reactively. One mother Yusi (34-year-old, with a 6-year-old daughter from a middle-and-upper-income background) stated that she would not use this dimension "unless something happens". This mother was not using it currently but planned to use it in the future if her child reports negative race related experiences. She would rather take a reactive approach in using promotion of mistrust instead of a proactive approach.

Helpful or Harmful

Ten mothers (17.5%) perceived promotion of mistrust as helpful and twenty-six mothers (45.6%) perceived it as harmful. Ten mothers (17.5%) perceived it as mixed and the rest of the mothers (n=11, 19.3%) were unsure of the effect of it or did not answer directly

When asked about the use of promotion of mistrust, 16 mothers (28.1%) mentioned that promotion of mistrust had some help in protecting children from future danger. In the meantime, mothers also mentioned multiple harmful aspects of using promotion of mistrust. Twenty mothers (35.1%) believed that promotion of mistrust was not conducive to fostering positive intergroup relations. Eighteen mothers (31.6%) thought that promotion of mistrust introduced and reinforced prejudice, stereotypes, discrimination and racism. Nine mothers (15.8%) pointed out that the danger of promotion of mistrust was overemphasizing race and underemphasizing individual contribution.

PM protects and prepares children from possible or future danger. Sixteen Mothers (28.1%) recognized that promotion of mistrust can help prepare their children for potential danger on an individual level. Promotion of mistrust serves as a reminder that there are bad people out there and it is helpful to be mindful. "It's a useful conversation to have. It's not about the person at all. The use is that he is less likely to get hurt" Candy, a 46-year-old mother of a 6-year-old son from a low-income family said. Most mothers described using promotion of mistrust as a general careful attitude towards strangers and did not specify which ethnic or racial group their child should be careful with. Few mothers explicitly mentioned to their child about being careful when interacting with Black and Latino people.

PM is not conducive to fostering positive intergroup relations. Twenty mothers (35.1%) mentioned the detrimental effect of not promoting positive interracial relationships through promotion of mistrust. The mothers did not want to teach children to not trust others. As a minority themselves, they did not want to be treated differently, so they thought it was unfair to treat people of other races differently. Lan, a middle-and upper-income 45-year-old mother of a 6-year-old son said, "I always teach my kids that if you don't want A to happen to you, you can't do A to others." Mothers worried that planting the idea of mistrusting certain groups of people in children's minds would discourage them from getting along with others, especially in children this young. Dalia, a low-income 35-year-old mother of a 7year-old daughter said, "He [The child] just plays with others. He doesn't think you are a person from another country. He thinks we are all the same.... After you tell him this, he will instead create the gap, not getting along well with others." Six mothers talked about the importance of interacting with other races to assimilate to the American society. Promotion of mistrust did not foster good relationships with people from other racial backgrounds and was therefore harmful to the assimilation process.

PM introduces and reinforces prejudice, stereotypes, discrimination, and racism. Eighteen mothers (31.6%) pointed out that promotion of mistrust was a form of prejudice, stereotypes, discrimination, and racism. Mistrusting a group based on their skin color was wrong and unfair. Based on their personal experiences as a people of color, the mothers understood how harmful it was to form stereotypes about other groups. To them, passing these harmful ideas to their children was not

acceptable. They wanted to pass values of equality rather than to reinforce stereotypes and discrimination. At one point, Angela, a 50-year-old mother of a 5-year-old son from a middle-and-upper-income background, expressed that, "It was fundamentally un-American". Three mothers mentioned that using this method was incongruent with American values.

### PM overemphasizes race and underemphasizes individuals' contributions.

Nine Chinese mothers (15.8%) emphasized the importance of paying attention to individuals (e.g., their behaviors, characters). It was unfair to generalize one person's bad behavior to the entire race. Therefore, mistrusting one group based on some members' negative contributions in the group was unnecessary and harmful. They admitted that even within their own Chinese American community, there were good and bad people. Similarly, each ethnic and racial group has all kinds of different people behaving in different ways. "We cannot knock down the entire race in one shot", Musheng, a 34-year-old mother of a 5-year-old daughter from a low-income background said.

#### Egalitarianism and Silence about Race

#### Frequency

During the interviews, egalitarianism and silence about race was introduced as practices that encourage their children to value individual qualities over racial group membership or avoid any mention of race in discussions with their children. Mothers showed more diversity in how frequently they used egalitarianism and silence about race compared with how often they used cultural socialization and promotion of mistrust. Specifically, 11 mothers respectively never (19.3%) or rarely (19.3%) used

this dimension. One-third of the mothers (n=18, 31.6%) sometimes used it and 14% of the mothers often used it (n=8).

Higher percentage of middle-and-upper-income mothers (n=5, 23.8%) used egalitarianism and silence about race often than low-income mothers (n=3, 8.3%) whereas lower percentage of middle-and-upper-income mothers (n=2, 9.5%) used this dimension rarely than low-income families (n=9, 25%). The percentages of never or sometimes using egalitarianism and silence about race were similar across two groups. Eleven low-income mothers (30.6%) sometimes used it and seven middle-and-upper-income mothers (33.3%) sometimes used it. Eight low-income mothers (22.2%) never used it and three middle-and-upper income mothers (14.3%) never used it. A chi-square test of independence showed that there was no significant association between income and frequency of using egalitarianism and silence about race,  $x^2$  (4, N=57) =4.598, p=0.331.

#### **Current Practices**

Hughes et al. (2006) defined egalitarianism and silence about race as emphasizing individual qualities over racial group membership and avoiding mentioning race. This dimension was the most difficult dimension for the mothers to understand. Several mothers asked the interviewer to repeat the definition and clarify what it meant. They also expressed the confusion that egalitarianism and silence about race was put under the same dimension because they found it different. In the interview, 19 mothers (33%) neglected or underemphasized the role of racial differences. Seventeen mothers (30%) discussed equality, unity, and shared humanity with their children. There was a significant overlap of the mothers that used these two

strategies together to make their point. Egalitarianism and silence about race was regarded as an age-appropriate strategy for children between 4 to 7 years old by Chinese American mothers. Children asked questions about their observations of different skin color among people and their mothers often discussed equality, unity, and shared humanity and deemphasized the role of racial differences to respond to children's curiosity.

Mothers neglect or underemphasize the role of racial differences. One-third of the mothers (n=19) neglected or underemphasized the role of racial differences. They encouraged their children to focus on individual qualities over group membership. They suggested to their children that there were no racial differences – "I don't want to tell children like this, yellow skin or other skin. Classmates are classmates, there is nothing more. I have never talked to children [about racial differences], unless there is something happening in the class, there is no specific time when I will talk to my children about this." Ning, a 38-year-old low-income mother of a 7-year-old daughter said. Some mothers also suggested that racial differences were not important. For example Summer, a 40-year-old middle-andupper-income mother of a 5-year-old daughter said, "Sometimes she will say that there are classmates with dark hair or skin on the outside. Then I will say that these things are not important." Mothers did not want racial differences to create conflicts among their child and other children. Bing, a 39-year-old low-income mother of a 7year-old daughter said, "...black, white or blonde, yellow hair, black hair... I will not say this to her to create such a contrast." Mothers were afraid that discussions of racial differences may lead to racial discrimination. They feared that such racial

discussions will highlight racial differences between groups and reduce their child's interaction with children of other races. In addition, parents did not want to provide pre-conceived notions about race to children. For example, Yangshi, a 32-year-old low-income mother of a 6-year-old son said, "If we talk about the race blindly, of course, their communication [with people of other races] will definitely decrease, so I haven't told the children because this will distract them, and I will let her analyse these things herself."

Mothers discuss equality, unity and shared humanity. Seventeen mothers (30%) discussed equality, unity and shared humanity among people of different racial and ethnic backgrounds with their children. Some of these mothers de-emphasized the importance of racial differences but focused on individual characters as they thought this would protect her child from racial bullying in school settings, especially in a predominantly white school. Zhan, a 40-year-old low-income mother of a 6-year-old daughter shared, "when we go to school, people there are all white, and rarely are there yellow-skinned people. I am afraid that my child will be bullied and will say why they are like this and we are like this. Tell the kid that everyone is equal, only that they come from different countries, but the main thing is that everyone's heart is different. If you have a good attitude, everything is the same." They also emphasized that in the U.S., everyone has the basic right to be treated equally, and use this to booster their child's confidence about their rights. Francesco, a low-income 37-yearold mother of a 7-year-old son, said, "Basically when they feel like they're Chinese, they have this confusion. I tell them, no matter what your race is, you are in America, you are in an American school. What's different between you and others?" The

implied message is that: You are in the U.S. now. You deserve to be treated with respect and equally as your other classmates.

Mothers underemphasize racial differences and emphasize equality simultaneously. Eight low-income mothers and one middle-and-upper-income mother used underemphasizing race and emphasizing equality together. One mother, Tan, a 43-year-old mother of a 5-year-old son from a middle-and-upper-income family suggested that children in America should become indifferent to race to "establish a principle of equality":

I think we should establish a principle of equality, and it's best if they don't even have a concept of race. [I think] This is correct. Sometimes I say things like we Chinese are good at table tennis, and Indians are strong in computer science. But these are all positive attributes. For an ethnic group, there are a lot of people who do [excel at] these things, but I don't say what Muslims are like, nor do I talk about their negative attributes. I might say things like how they are all great, and how they might be particularly good in a field, or even better than us in every aspect. But I don't say they are like this, or they are like that (the negative attributes). I think the concept of race itself should be eliminated, and I think our children who grew up in the United States should be very indifferent to this concept of race.

Mothers use ES to answer children's curiosity in racial differences. "When we walk on the road, she asks why is his skin dark? I said that we are human beings from different countries, from various countries, white and black." Chun, a 37-year-old mother of a 6-year-old daughter from a low-income background, said. Similarly, Jinxi, a middle-and-upper-income mother of a 5-year-old daughter shared, "especially when she asks the question 'Why, uh, somebody is Black or something,' it's when you talk, and when I couldn't find an easy answer that she can understand. And then I'll say, no matter what, we're all humans." Mothers shared anecdotes of their child asking about skin color in daily life as they interact with different people in the real world and read storybooks. This showed that children between age 4 and 7 are

observant of these racial differences and are curious to ask questions about their observations. This finding is consistent with the literature that children start to process information about race at a young age. Some Chinese American mothers in our sample responded to their children's curiosity about race by giving them a quick egalitarian answer.

Mother uses ES to break stereotypes. In our sample, one low-income mother of a 5-year-old son, Maria, used egalitarianism and silence about race to break stereotypes. She gave a specific example of how she taught the child that we are all humans, and we should accept each other when the child started forming stereotypes about his Black swimming teacher:

He (her son) told us that he didn't like the Black swimming teacher. I told him that this was not important. You couldn't choose. You could generate another feeling for Black people. I let him accept him. Don't be subjective. It's his instinct that he may not like some color, right, everyone does this, then I used this method, I will tell him that it's the same. You can accept what you don't like in another way.

#### Helpful or Harmful

Twenty-seven mothers (47.4%) perceived egalitarianism and silence about race as helpful and four mothers (7%) perceived it as harmful. One mother (1.8%) perceived it as neutral and nine mothers (15.8%) had mixed feelings about it. The rest of the mothers (n=16, 28.1%) were unsure about whether it was helpful or harmful or did not answer the question directly.

ES messages are consistent with values of equality and shared humanity.

Thirteen mothers (22.8%) believed that egalitarian and silence about race messages were consistent with values of equality and regarded these messages as "correct", "true" and "fair". They believed that we are all human beings, and we are equal. What Yanjin, a 45-year-old middle-and-upper-income mother of a 5-year-old daughter, said

was echoed in other mothers' interviews: "People have different colors. They can have different hair color, different eye color, different skin color. But inside we are the same. We're all human beings." The mothers wanted to convey to their child that despite differences in appearance, all of us share the identity of human being.

ES promotes an open mind and multiculturalism. Eighteen mothers (31.6%) used egalitarianism and silence about race to encourage their children to cultivate an open mind and cooperate with people from different backgrounds. For example, Wendy, a 37-year-old mother of a 5-year-old daughter from a middle-and-upperincome background, said, "I think this is helpful because it gives them an open mind. Having preconceived notion is very harmful because you are already blocking yourself from understanding other groups." The mother emphasized the importance of understanding groups other than themselves. "It's more helpful for the melting pot to work... to help different races get along." Anna, a 35-year-old mother of a 6-yearold daughter from a middle-and-upper-income background, laughed when she said "melting pot". To her, America is a melting pot, and she wanted her child to contribute to the success of it. Changyin, a 33-year-old mother of a 5-year-old son from a middle-and-upper-income background, specifically used the term multiculturalism to indicate her appreciation for cultural diversity: "The benefit is giving children a more inclusive motivation and courage to reach out and try multiculturalism."

ES is easy to use for young children now and yet may be harmful in the long run. Four mothers (7%) noted that the dimension of egalitarianism and silence about race was developmentally appropriate for their child's current age and thus easy

to use. One mother told the interviewer that she was responsible for introducing shared humanity to their child and it was up to their child to develop analyses of race and racial issues. Mothers expressed the convenient use of this dimension because it was easy for the parents to explain that we are equal, and it was easy for their child to understand the idea. Yet, some mothers mentioned that it may be harmful for their children in the long run. For example, Yusi, a 34-year-old mother of a 6-year-old daughter from a middle-and-upper-income background, said, "At first, if you want a quick and easy way, it might be helpful. You might see it's working, but they need to face it eventually. So, in the long run, I think it's not as helpful. It might even be harmful." Cheng, a 30-year-old mother of a 6-year-old son from a low-income background, explained that egalitarianism and silence about race messages were too general and could not truly help the child when they encountered difficulties. She said, "If the child is still young, you can use this kind of words to comfort him. Maybe a little older, he will think you do not know my real pains."

ES neglects reality of prejudice, discrimination, and racism. Nine mothers (15.8%) from both the low-income group and the middle-and-upper-income group mentioned the reality of racism when they were asked to elaborate on the harm of egalitarianism and silence about race. They argued that egalitarian messages painted a beautiful image of an equal world, but it failed to highlight the reality of prejudice, discrimination, and racism that people of color face. Mothers recognized that avoiding talking about the existing racism cannot protect their children from not experiencing it. Yusi, a 34-year-old mother of a 6-year-old daughter from a middle-and-upper-income background, said, "The reality is there. If you just keep hiding it

from them (children), they will figure it out eventually". Moge, a 43-year-old mother of a 6-year-old son from a middle-and-upper-income background, talked about the danger of not discussing discrimination experiences. "When he really meets [discrimination and racism], he does not know how to deal with it." This mother thus pointed out that it was wrong to use ES messages and it was very important to tell children that racial discrimination exist.

**ES** neglects minorities' identities and cultures. While acknowledging all the human beings belong to the same human race, mothers also expressed concerns of saying the differences don't matter. Nine mothers (15.8%) shared that egalitarianism and silence about race neglected minorities' unique cultural identity and experiences. The mothers wanted their child to accept and appreciate their Chinese culture and identity. For example, Bing, a low-income 39-year-old mother of a 7-year-old daughter, said, "You have the face of Chinese and the origin of Chinese. You can have the culture of the whole world. But first, you must have your own culture." Another mother Cathy, 32-year-old with a 6-year-old daughter from a middle-andupper-income background, pointed out that "ignoring is not a solution.... We are different and that's part of what makes it wonderful, and how you can stretch yourself and learn." She implied that egalitarian messages ignored racial and cultural differences. The egalitarian approach missed opportunities to teach children how to learn from differences and embraces the beauty of differences. Dayu, a 41-year-old mother of a 5-year-old daughter from a middle-and-upper-income background, shared that her child would challenge her if she used a blanket statement to say we are all the same because from their observation, we are not all the same. She introduced her

approach of helping her child understand the differences rather than saying the differences don't matter:

I don't like the way that we simply just ignore the differences...We are all humans. It is true. But we are also different. We have our own identity and culture, and that's something to be proud of. And it's also something to celebrate....If I told my kids that you are all the same, he was gonna say our skin colors are different. The shape of our eyes is different. It's better to help them understand why we're different and why it's okay to be different, and then accept it compared to just say no, ignore all that. It doesn't matter.

ES may cause bicultural identity conflict. One mother, Francesco, a 37-year-old mother of a 7-year-old son from a low-income background, analyzed the harm of not mentioning their own culture and identity with children in America. She worried that her child would suffer from bicultural identity conflict and could not feel a sense of belonging in either of the cultural groups. She insisted that parents should not avoid discussing cultural and racial issues with their child especially as they grow older and can understand more. She said:

Children don't feel like they have their own identity. He doesn't know how he came here and where his cultural background came from. He can't get close to Americans because he doesn't look like Americans. But parents didn't tell me about China, then he doesn't feel that way on either side.... So these topics can't be avoided, especially as they age. They learned a lot in school, like China and the Chinese history and geography. They can realize more. They might think why their parents are avoiding the subject, so you still need to talk to them.

# Chapter 6: Discussion

Research on ethnic-racial socialization has been mostly conducted with African and Latino American adolescents and young adults using quantitative methods. Our understanding of the dynamic ethnic-racial socialization processes among Asian American families with young children is very limited. There is also a lack of attention to the socioeconomic contexts where ethnic-racial socialization occurs. The present study contributes to the current literature by examining the ethnic-racial socialization processes among Chinese American families with young children (ages 4-7) from both low-income and middle-and-upper-income backgrounds using qualitative methods.

### Chinese American Mothers' Use of Ethnic-Racial Socialization Dimensions

Among the four different ethnic-racial socialization strategies studied in this study, Chinese American mothers used cultural socialization strategy most frequently, followed by egalitarianism and silence about race and preparation for bias. Chinese American mothers used promotion of mistrust the least. Chinese American mothers showed more consensus in how they used cultural socialization and promotion of mistrust and more diversity in how they used preparation for bias and egalitarianism and silence about race.

Cultural socialization is consistently part of the family routine in Chinese American's everyday life and an indispensable part of Chinese American mothers' child-rearing practices. Chinese American mothers wished to pass on cultural traditions, such as Chinese food, language and history to their offspring. They perceived cultural socialization as helpful in understanding familial roots,

strengthening parent-child bonds, and developing positive Chinese identity. Our data showed that culture was experienced up close every day among Chinese American families, which is consistent with Hill (2006)'s finding that culture is experienced as personal and proximal rather than distal among families of color. Specifically, culture was shared proximally between Chinese American parents and children through an emphasis on language learning and storytelling. Almost all the Chinese American mothers wanted their children to be bilingual and emphasized the importance of learning Chinese language to their children. Language learning and storytelling are interconnected with each other. Chinese American parents liked to cite stories from Chinese history and literature when they introduced a holiday or a unique ethnic food to their children. They also liked to read classic Chinese novel to their children. One example that was repeatedly mentioned by Chinese American mothers in our data was Journey to the West, a Chinese fantasy novel published in the 16<sup>th</sup> century and an arguably most popular literary work in East Asia. It tells the story of Tang Xuanzang, a Buddhist monk, along with his disciples Sun Wukong (Monkey King), Zhu Bajie, and Sha Wujing journeying towards truth and enlightenment through cooperation.

Our understanding of the most salient cultural socialization aspects among
Chinese American families—language and storytelling—has implications for
educators and mental health providers. Educators and school psychologists, who work
with Chinese American families, are encouraged to explore the linguistic and
storytelling strengths Chinese American children bring to the school. Educators are
also encouraged to include Chinese literature and stories like Journey to the West in
the classrooms so that Chinese American children can feel a sense of belonging and

have a space to develop positive ethnic identity in the school, where they often are the minority and do not have the opportunity to nurture their minority identity. In addition, all children can benefit from learning classic stories that travel from different cultural roots.

Chinese American mothers acknowledged that preparation for bias paints a realistic picture of children's encounter with ethnic-racial bullying and teaches coping strategies for bullying and discrimination. However, they were cautious not to overemphasize the role of race in peer interactions. The caution around talking about race was also reflected in their use of egalitarianism and silence about race strategy. While Chinese American mothers emphasized the shared humanity (For example, a mother said, "If you have a good attitude, everything is the same."), they often underemphasized racial differences in America. These results are consistent with previous literature that immigrant Chinese Americans minimized discussion about racial discrimination (Hwang et al., 2010; Qin et al., 2007). The current study extended prior studies by unpacking the Chinese mothers' rationales behind it. It is twofold. First, the mothers do not want their children to feel inferior due to their minority identity. Second, the mothers worry that talking about bias and their minority identity will further negatively affect children's mental health and selfesteem. As a result, Chinese American mothers face a dilemma of using preparation for bias: they know the importance of raising awareness of racial discrimination but hesitate to explicitly name the stereotypes, bias and discrimination that their children may face in their life. To address this hesitation, educators can encourage Chinese American parents to combine acknowledging the reality of racial discrimination with

instilling cultural pride and coping strategies. Researchers have found that high levels of cultural socialization and a moderate level of preparation for bias mitigated the negative association between racial discrimination and self-esteem (Harris-Britt et al., 2007). Educators and Chinese American parents also need to empower their children to feel that they have control over racial discrimination, promote youth's agency, and encourage youth to seek social support for racial discrimination. Research has shown that youth's sense of control over discriminatory experiences were related to greater use of seeking social support and problem-solving coping strategies (Scott & House, 2005). Chinese American parents are also encouraged to share stories of Asian American social justice advocates (e.g., Yuri Kochiyama) so that their child knows that Asian Americans have a long history of fighting against racial discrimination.

Many Chinese American mothers in this study never used promotion of mistrust and none of them often used this dimension. Some mothers used this method as a reactive strategy when their child was bullied. Our data showed that Chinese American mothers believed that promotion of mistrust introduced and reinforced prejudice, stereotype, discrimination, and racism. Of the mothers that did use promotion of mistrust in their ethnic-racial socialization process, low-income mothers in the sample were more likely to use this dimension and form negative stereotypes of other racial groups than their higher-income counterparts. Bobo and Hutchings (1996) found that individuals who perceive members of their own group as facing unfair treatment in the larger social order tend to be more likely to regard members of other groups as competitive threats. This may explain our results because low-income Chinese American mothers are more likely to face unfair treatment than their higher-

income counterparts in current American society, and thus they are more likely to perceive other groups as competitive threats and form negative stereotypes of them.

It is surprising that when Chinese American mothers in our sample used promotion of mistrust, they only promoted mistrust towards Black and Latino groups, not White people even though empirical data showed that in occurrences of anti-Asian hate crimes and incidents, the offenders are more likely to be White than non-White (Powers et al., 2022; Zhang et al., 2022). The reasons behind the mistrust towards Black and Latino groups are beyond the scope of this thesis, but several points need to be made to situate the racial tension experienced between Asian American and other communities of color in a larger context. First, Black and Latino groups are historically overrepresented as criminals compared to their White counterparts on television news (Dixon & Linz, 2000). Influenced by the unjust media portrayal of violence and crimes, the Chinese American mothers being interviewed may have formed the wrong impression of Black and Latino people. They may have attributed their sense of feeling unsafe in their neighborhood to the wrong cause. Second, viral videos that showed the violence targeted towards Asian people initiated by Black people on social media may have occupied much of the attention and misguided the public. Wong and Liu (2022) analyzed the disconnection between the empirical data and the Black-Asian conflict narratives of anti-Asian hate crimes. They found that regardless of the empirical data showing that offenders were more likely to be White than non-White in anti-Asian hate crimes, the narrative that reinforces stereotypes of Black criminality (e.g., a video on social media that portrays a Black person hitting an Asian elderly) was more likely to be launched to public

discourse, and thus more easily to be exposed to the mothers in our study. Third, Yellow Horse et al., (2021) found that foreign-born Asian Americans were more likely to report indifference to Black Lives Matter movement compared to their U.S.-born Asian American counterparts. Seventy percent of the Asian American adults are foreign-born (Pew Research Center, 2021). It is likely that immigrant Chinese American mothers lack the knowledge of racial injustices in the history of America, and therefore do not have the language to talk about structural racism in their ethnic-racial socialization processes. Instead, they may have developed negative stereotypes towards Black and Latino groups based on the limited and oftentimes misleading information on traditional media outlets and social media. Little research has been conducted to examine the distinction between promotion of mistrust towards white people and towards other people of color in Asian American communities. This nuanced aspect of promotion of mistrust in the ethnic-racial socialization processes in Chinese American families requires further research.

Egalitarianism and silence about race strategies were seen as age-appropriate and easy to use by Chinese American mothers. Multiple mothers mentioned that they used this method when their child was curious about differences in skin color and initiated questions about these differences. Regarding the use of this method, the mothers perceived egalitarianism and silence about race as helpful because egalitarianism and silence about race messages were consistent with values of equality and promoted an open mind and multiculturalism. While they recognized the helpfulness of this dimension, Chinese American mothers also pointed out the potential harm of neglecting minorities' unique identities and cultures, realities of

racism, prejudice, and discrimination. Chinese American mothers' perception of the benefits and potential harm of this method has implications for mental heal providers and educators. Psychologists and educators working with Chinese American children and families need to be aware of the potential harm of just mentioning shared humanity when they discuss diversity issues with their clients. It is important to also celebrate the clients' unique cultural identities and to explore the realities of prejudice and racism the clients may face.

Results from the use of four ethnic-racial socialization dimensions indicated that Chinese American mothers use preparation for bias, promotion of mistrust, and egalitarianism and silence about race both proactively and reactively. For example, Chinese American mothers shared their own discrimination experiences with their children to proactively prepare their children for bias. They helped their child develop coping strategies after their child experienced bias, which is a reactive approach. Similarly for promotion of mistrust, some Chinese American mothers encouraged their child to proactively avoid certain ethnic or racial groups in their daily interaction. They also used it reactively. When their child shared with their mother that they are bullied, Chinese American mothers would ask them to avoid the ethnic or racial group that the bully is a member of. Similar themes emerged in the usage of egalitarianism and silence about race. Chinese American mothers discussed equality, unity, and shared humanity proactively with their child. They also responded reactively when their child asked questions about their observations of differences in skin color. Different from the proactive and reactive uses of preparation for bias, promotion of mistrust, and egalitarianism and silence about race, Chinese American

mothers almost always employed cultural socialization proactively. It felt natural to them to actively share ethnic food, holidays, language, books, media, and history and integrate these aspects in their everyday life. These results are consistent with Juang (2018)'s findings that Asian American parents are proactive and reactive in the racial socialization of their children and they pass on their heritage culture predominantly proactive.

#### Family Income and Ethnic-Racial Socialization Processes

Few studies have examined the influence of socioeconomic status on families' ethnic-racial socialization processes within a certain ethnic minority group (Hughes et al., 2006). Studies investigating ethnic-racial socialization processes among Asian American families are predominantly conducted with middle-class Asian Americans. Little is known about what ethnic-racial socialization processes look like in Asian American families from lower-income backgrounds. The present study is the first study to examine and compare how Chinese American mothers from low-income and middle-and-upper-income backgrounds differ in the frequency and content of their ethnic-racial socialization practices. Our analyses revealed that low-income and middle-and-upper-income Chinese American mothers did not differ in their frequency of using each ethnic-racial socialization dimension. Results coming from studies conducted with African American families (e.g., Caughy et al., 2002; Hughes & Chen, 1997) indicated that families with more financial resources used more cultural socialization and preparation for bias than their lower-income counterparts, which is not the case in our Chinese American sample. The majority of the Chinese American mothers from both groups often or sometimes used cultural socialization practices,

never or seldom used preparation for bias practices, never or seldom used promotion of mistrust practices, and seldom or sometimes used egalitarianism and silence about race. Yet, several themes emerged from the results, showing nuances in how the two income groups used the specific ethnic-racial socialization strategies. First, discrimination was much more pervasive in lived experiences of low-income Chinese American mothers. It is striking that when talking about preparation for bias, all the Chinese American mothers that mentioned being treated unfairly at workplaces or in life (n=7) were from the low-income group. As such, they were more likely to use their own discrimination experiences to prepare their children proactively for bias. In addition, low-income mothers expressed concerns of not having socioeconomic resources and social capital to counter racial discrimination if that happens to their children. Consistent with the intersectionality framework, our findings provided empirical evidence that holding multiple marginalized identities (being a minority with low income) act as a risk factor and contribute to negative life outcomes and psychological distress (Crenshaw, 2013; Shin et al., 2017).

Both low-income and middle-and-upper-income Chinese American mothers, in the context of preparation for bias discussion, shared that in American society, their Asian American child have to work harder than other groups to achieve the same rewards (e.g., college admission). This finding is consistent with the result of earlier quantitative studies (e.g., Benner & Kim, 2009a) that Chinese American parents believed that their children needed to perform better in school in order to succeed in the American society. This finding suggests that model minority stereotype is a pervasive narrative negatively impacting Chinese American children regardless of

income status. It has become a master narrative that dominates the lives of Asian Americans (Kiang et al., 2017; Mistry & Kiyama, 2021). This observation in our data can be understood in the framework of navigating marginalization and invisibility proposed by Mistry and Kiyama (2021). Chinese American mothers navigated and negotiated the ethnicity-related experiences through the societal master narrative of model minority stereotype in their ethnic-racial socialization processes. Yet, Chinese American mothers from different income groups held different attitudes towards this stereotype. In our analyses, low-income mothers regarded encouraging their children to work hard as an effective coping mechanism to counter discrimination and believed that doubling hard work would eventually pay off as a function of adaptive culture (García Coll et al., 1996). On the contrary, middle-and-upper-income mothers questioned the fairness of asking their children to work harder than others. Hill (2006) found that low-income Asian American, African American and Latino American parents all focus on conformity and maintaining order in their parenting practices. Such similarities may be due to similarities in being discriminated and being oppressed in American society (Hill, 2006), which is disproportionally experienced by low-income population within ethnic minority communities. The different attitudes towards model minority stereotypes revealed diversity among Chinese Americans from different income levels and these different attitudes are shaped by their different lived experiences in America. It is critical for future researchers and policy makers to understand Chinese and Asian Americans with the lens of socioeconomic diversity within an ethnic or racial group and make educational policies according to the needs of the minorities' lived experiences.

#### *Limitations and Future Directions*

Despite its many contributions, several limitations need to be noted. First, our study consisted of interviews with Chinese American mothers in Maryland and New York City. Further work is needed to understand the extent to which the processes and patterns in the current study generalize to the broader population of Chinese American mothers. Our study focused on mothers. However, mothers and fathers may play different ethnic-racial socializing roles and have different effects on their children (e.g., McHale et al., 2006; Park et al., 2020). Chinese American fathers were found to have more adaptation difficulties than mothers after immigrating to the U.S. and were more likely to transfer stress and dissatisfaction to their children (Qin, 2009). Future research is needed to study the ethnic-racial socialization differences between Chinese American fathers and mothers. Third, we imposed the definition of ethnic-racial socialization and the four dimensions of ethnic-racial socialization based on literature review. This may have restricted the interviewees to conceptualize ethnic-racial socialization in a specific way and may have prevented them from freely generating their own definition of ethnic-racial socialization. Future researchers may want to ask open-ended questions at the beginning of the interview what each participant thinks of when they hear ethnic-racial socialization (e.g., how do you talk to your child about race and ethnicity?) before sharing the definition in the literature.

Looking forward, the current study points to important avenues for future research. This study highlights the value of examining the socioeconomic context in which ethnic-racial socialization takes place. Future studies, both quantitative and qualitative, will benefit from inclusion of socioeconomic context when examining the

complex dynamics of parental ethnic-racial socialization. More studies are also needed to examine the dimension of egalitarianism and silence about race. This dimension created some confusion among the participants regarding grouping egalitarianism and silence about race together, which calls for a clearer definition of this dimension. Egalitarianism and silence about race was found to be associated with low self-esteem and lower grades among African American youth (Bowman & Howard, 1985; Constantine & Blackmon, 2002), but we do not know the consequences of parental use of egalitarianism and silence about race in Asian American youth. In our current study, we found that some children initiated ethnicracial conversations. The conceptual framing of this study focused on parent-directed ethnic-racial socialization, and thus our analysis cannot speak to how children's observation and awareness of ethnicity and race also shape their socializing agents' ethnic-racial socialization processes. It will be exciting if future researchers examine bi-directional ethnic-racial socialization dynamics. Finally, ethnic-racial socialization takes place outside family through interactions between peer, school, communitybased, and media settings (Sladek et al., 2022). Future work is needed to study how parental ethnic-racial socialization intersects with peer, school, community, and media socialization.

#### Conclusions

In conclusion, the present study aims to examine the unique ways in which Chinese American mothers from both the low-income group and the middle-and-upper-income group ethnically and racially socialize their 4-to-7-year-old young children. Complex ethnic-racial socialization patterns were revealed when we asked

mothers to describe their use of ethnic-racial socialization dimension using their own words, tapping directly into the frequency and content of their usage of cultural socialization, preparation for bias, promotion of mistrust, and egalitarianism and silence about race. The majority of the Chinese American mothers from both income groups often or sometimes used cultural socialization practices, never or seldom used preparation for bias practices, never or seldom used promotion of mistrust practices, and seldom or sometimes used egalitarianism and silence about race. Chinese American mothers used cultural socialization predominantly proactively as part of their family routines, and used preparation for bias, promotion of mistrust, and egalitarianism and silence about race both proactively and reactively. Across multiple dimensions, Chinese American mothers tended to minimize the role of race in their ethnic-racial socialization because they worry that talking about race, discrimination and minority identity will negatively impact their children's mental health and selfesteem. Interestingly, on the other side, young children themselves actively observed people around them and initiated questions about their observations of different skin colors. They curiously wanted to know why people have different skin colors and seek answers from their socializing agents.

The study design including mothers from both low-income and middle-and-upper income groups afforded the opportunity for us to hear the perspectives of Chinese American mothers from diverse income backgrounds in their ethnic-racial socialization processes. Low-income and middle-and-upper-income Chinese American mothers reported same frequency of using each ethnic-racial socialization dimension. Different patterns across both groups emerged in their use of the specific

strategies of preparation for bias and promotion of mistrust. Compared to their middle-and-upper-income counterparts, low-income Chinese American mothers were much more likely to mention experiencing racial discrimination and share their own discrimination experiences with their child. In their discussion of preparation for bias, Chinese American mothers from both income groups mentioned higher societal demands towards Asian Americans compared to other racial groups, yet they held different attitudes towards this demand. Low-income Chinese American mothers used this demand to encourage their children to work harder while middle-and-upper-income mothers questioned the fairness of the treatment towards Asian Americans. When the Chinese American mothers chose to use promotion of mistrust with their child, low-income mothers were more likely to form negative stereotypes of other racial groups than the middle-and-upper-income mothers.

These findings shed light on the nuances of how Chinese American families engage in ethnic-racial socialization. Even when the frequency of using each dimension seems the same, the specific practices and rationales behind these practices for mothers from different income groups paint a more in-depth picture of the ethnic-racial socialization dynamics. These nuanced understanding will support mental health providers and educators to better serve Chinese American families from different socioeconomic backgrounds.

# Appendices

Table 1: Sample Demographics

	Total Sample		
Demographic Variables	N	%	
Child Sex			
Female	33	58	
Male	24	42	
Child Age			
4 years	3	5	
5 years	24	42	
6 years	21	37	
7 years	9	16	
Generational Status			
First-generation	56	98%	
Second-generation	1	2%	
Mother Marital Status			
Married	50	88	
Married and separated	1	1.75	
Single	2	3.5	
Divorced	3	5	
In a relationship	1	1.75	
Widowed	0	0	
Mother Educational Level			
Less than primary school	0	0	
Primary school	4	7	
Middle school	7	12	
High school	10	17.5	
Vocational school	6	11	
Undergraduate degree	22	38.5	
Graduate degree	8	14	
Family Annual Income (dollars)			
Under 4,000	2	3.5	
4,000-9,999	1	1.5	
10,000-59,999	32	56	
60,000-99,999	4	7	
100,000 and over	18	32	
<i>Note:</i> $Total\ N = 57$			

Table 2: The categorization matrix for coding

	Cultural	Preparation	Promotion of	Egalitarianism	
	Socialization	for Bias	Mistrust	and Silence	
				about Race	
Frequency (Never,					
Rarely/Seldom,					
Sometimes, Often)					
Current Practices					
Helpful or					
Harmful?					
Reasons for					
Helpful					
Reasons for					
Harmful					

Table 3: Initial codes under cultural socialization dimension

#### Codes

Cultural Socialization (CS)

CS Frequency

#### **CS** Current Practices

Chinese language use / teaching Eat Chinese food Discussion about culture/history Exposure to Chinese books/media

# CS Helpful/ Harmful

CS is helpful CS is harmful

# Reasons for CS Helpful

Understand cultural differences/ diversity
Promote connection to China, cultural pride
or/and positive Chinese identity (e.g. helps child
feel comfortable with their ethnic/racial identity)
Understand familial roots/history (e.g. to allow
child to know about family's heritage or to be
able to pass onto future generations)
Understand Chinese history/culture/language
(e.g. NOT family history)

## Reasons for CS Harmful

Too much CS may hinder acculturation (e.g. too much Chinese socialization may make it difficult for child to adapt to American mainstream society)

Too much CS may hinder diversity in friendships

# Table 4: Final codes under cultural socialization dimension Codes Cultural Socialization (CS) **CS** Frequency **CS** Current Practices Chinese language use / teaching Eat Chinese food Discussion about culture/history Exposure to Chinese books/media Visits to China Holiday celebrations (e.g. New Year's celebration, making dumplings, red lucky envelopes) Promotion of cultural values (e.g. diligence, hard work) CS Helpful/ Harmful CS is helpful CS is harmful CS is neutral (e.g. neither good or bad) CS is mixed (e.g. some good, some bad) CS unsure (parent is unsure if CS is helpful or harmful) CS No Effect Reasons for CS Helpful Understand cultural differences/ diversity Promote connection to China, cultural pride or/and positive Chinese identity (e.g. helps child feel comfortable with their ethnic/racial identity) Understand familial roots/history (e.g. to allow child to know about family's heritage or to be able to pass onto future generations) Understand Chinese history/culture/language (e.g. NOT family history) Promote interest for other aspects of Chinese culture (e.g. cultural celebrations, trips to China provides the opportunity for children to enjoy/use the language)

Strengthen parent-child/family bond CS comes naturally for parents (e.g. it's easy for parents to enact in daily life)

CS is child-directed, developmentally appropriate (e.g. child can determine pace at which s/he learns about Chinese culture/language/history)

# Reasons for CS Harmful

between both)

No harm with CS (e.g. includes anticipated harm)

Uncertain about CS harm
Too much CS may hinder acculturation (e.g. too much Chinese socialization may make it difficult for child to adapt to American mainstream society)

Too much CS may hinder diversity in friendships
Cultural/ethnic/racial identity should not be the defining feature
Bilingualism impairs language development
(e.g. child does not pick up English as quickly)
CS may cause bicultural identity conflict (e.g. child may face conflict assimilating into both Chinese/American cultures or finding a balance

#### Table 5: Codebook

# **Cultural Socialization**

# **CS Frequency**

**CS** Never

CS Rarely/seldom

CS Sometimes (e.g. occasionally)

CS Often

CS Unsure/don't know

**CS** Incongruent response (e.g. parent gives one answer but her examples are contradictory)

CS Did not answer/ unclear answer

CS frequency determined by child

### **CS Current Practices**

Chinese language use / teaching

Eat Chinese food

Discussion about culture/history

Exposure to Chinese books/media

Visits to China

Holiday celebrations (e.g. New Year's celebration, making dumplings, red lucky envelopes)

Promotion of cultural values (e.g. diligence, hard work)

# CS Helpful/Harmful

CS is helpful

CS is harmful

CS is neutral (e.g. neither good or bad)

CS is mixed (e.g. some good, some bad)

CS unsure (parent is unsure if CS is helpful or harmful)

**CS** No Effect

#### CS Helpful

Understand cultural differences/ diversity

Promote connection to China, cultural pride or/and positive Chinese identity

(e.g. helps child feel comfortable with their ethnic/racial identity)

Understand familial roots/history (e.g. to allow child to know about family's heritage or to be able to pass onto future generations)

Understand Chinese history/culture/language (e.g. NOT family history)

Promote interest for other aspects of Chinese culture (e.g. cultural

celebrations, trips to China provides the opportunity for children to enjoy/use the language)

Strengthen parent-child/family bond

CS comes naturally for parents (e.g. it's easy for parents to enact in daily life)

CS is child-directed, developmentally appropriate (e.g. child can determine

pace at which s/he learns about Chinese culture/language/history)

#### CS Harmful

No harm with CS (e.g. includes anticipated harm)

Uncertain about CS harm

Too much CS may hinder acculturation (e.g. too much Chinese socialization may make it difficult for child to adapt to American mainstream society)

Too much CS may hinder diversity in friendships

Cultural/ethnic/racial identity should not be the defining feature

Bilingualism impairs language development (e.g. child does not pick up English as quickly)

CS may cause bicultural identity conflict (e.g. child may face conflict assimilating into both Chinese/American cultures or finding a balance between both)

# **Preparation for Bias**

# **PB** Current Frequency

**PB** Never

PB Rarely /seldom

PB Sometimes (e.g. occasionally)

PB Often

PB Unsure/don't know

PB Incongruent response (e.g. parent gives one answer but her examples are contradictory)

PB Did not answer/ unclear answer

PB frequency determined by child

#### **PB** Current Practices

Parent employs reactive strategies (e.g. will use PB if/when child experiences discrimination, when/if its necessary)

Parent prepares proactively

Parent minimizes the role of race in discrimination

Parent shares their own ethnic-racial discrimination experiences

Parent avoids initiating PB discussions – child discovers on his own (e.g.

parent will not impose thoughts on child; child will recognize

discrimination/biases on his/her own)

Parent tells child not to bully/ treat others unfairly

Parent encourages child to work harder (e.g. to offset limitations caused by race/ethnicity)

Parent promotes ethnic-racial pride

# PB Helpful/Harmful

PB is helpful

PB is harmful

PB is neutral (e.g. neither good or bad)

PB is mixed (e.g. there are pros and cons with PB)

PB unsure (parent is unsure if PB is helpful or harmful)

PB No Effect

#### PB Helpful

PB Teaches coping strategies for ethnic-racial bullying/discrimination/biases (e.g. in schools, community etc.)

Child is not at fault for victimization (e.g. parent tells child that their discrimination/bullying experience is not through their own fault but others)

PB Paints a realistic picture (e.g. of Asian Americans' status as a minority group in society; discrimination is inevitable)

PB Encourages child to work harder (e.g. double up on their efforts)

#### PB Harmful

PB Overemphasizes the role of race (e.g. neglects individual responsibilities, contributions, merits)

AA children are disadvantaged due to overemphasis on race (e.g. Asian American children could be limited by society's overemphasis on ethnic-racial identity)

PB sets pre-conceived notions about race and discrimination (e.g. it introduces the topic of race and discrimination prematurely; may scare children before they are ready to tackle these topics; negates individual agency to make self-improvements)

PB Negatively affects children's self-esteem/self-concept/mental health

PB Forces Asian Americans to work harder (e.g. compared to others)

PB Limitations (e.g. no matter the amount of PB messages, it may not be enough to offset disadvantages that Asian Americans have in society)

#### **Promotion of Mistrust**

# **PM Frequency**

PM Never

PM Rarely /seldom

PM Sometimes (e.g. occasionally)

PM Often

PM Unsure/don't know

PM Incongruent response (e.g. parent gives one answer but her examples are contradictory)

PM Did not answer/ unclear answer

PM frequency determined by child

#### **PM Current Practices**

Discussions about inequality and/or structural racism in society (e.g. talk to the child about racial trends s/he noticed and how they've come to be)

Encourage avoidance of certain ethnic/racial groups (e.g. parent tells child to

Encourage avoidance of certain ethnic/racial groups (e.g. parent tells child to actively avoid certain ethnic/racial groups)

Use of PM only when child is bullied (e.g. or discriminated against)

Gender differences in use (e.g. use more with daughters)

# PM Helpful/Harmful

PM is helpful

PM is harmful

PM is neutral (e.g. neither good or bad)

PM is mixed (e.g. some good, some bad)

PM unsure (parent is unsure if PM is helpful or harmful)

PM No Effect

#### PM Helpful

No benefits for PM

PM protects/prepares from possible or future danger (e.g. PM is a self-defense strategy)

#### PM Harmful

PM no harm (e.g. includes anticipated harm)

PM is not conducive to fostering positive intergroup relations (e.g. it is important for foreigners to get along with other ethnic/racial groups and PM does not help; "don't treat others the way you don't want to be treated"; PM creates distance from successful integration with others)

PM introduces/reinforces prejudice, stereotypes (e.g. pre-conceived notions or blanket statements about race)

PM does not promote assimilation, integration (PM does not help with integrating into American society)

PM introduces/reinforces discrimination, racism, segregation

PM overemphasizes race, underemphasizes individuals' contributions (e.g. individuals' behaviors/context have to be considered beyond race)

PM incongruent with American values (e.g. equality, meritocracy, diversity – do not infer, parents have to explicitly mention the "American" piece)

PM incongruent with Chinese values (e.g. collectivism, parents have to explicitly mention the "Chinese" piece)

Child is too young for PM (e.g. to understand or receive PM messages)

# Egalitarianism – Silence about Race

#### **ES Frequency**

**ES** Never

ES Rarely /seldom

ES Sometimes (e.g. occasionally)

**ES** Often

ES Unsure/don't know

ES Incongruent response (e.g. parent gives one answer but her examples are contradictory)

ES Did not answer/ unclear answer

ES frequency determined by child

#### **ES Current Practices**

Discussions about equality/unity/shared humanity

Parent neglects/ underemphasizes role of racial/ethnic differences

Discussions about race, inequality, and racism/discrimination

Tailor ES messages to child's developmental level

Parent employs reactive strategies

#### ES Helpful/Harmful

ES is helpful

ES is harmful

ES no harm

ES is neutral (e.g. neither good or bad)

ES unsure (parent is unsure if ES is helpful or harmful)

ES is mixed (e.g. some good, some bad) ES No Effect

# **ES Helpful**

ES is developmentally appropriate (e.g. child can comprehend ES messages easily)

ES ease of use (e.g. quick and easy for parents to explain; helps delay a difficult topic for later)

ES promotes mutual understanding and diversity (e.g. open-mindedness between racial/ethnic groups; ES combats pre-conceived notions and stereotypes; ES promotes multiculturalism)

ES messages are consistent with values of equality and/or shared humanity (e.g. race becomes a less salient factor compared to individual contributions; "we are all human")

ES messages promotes pro-sociality, civic engagement (e.g. community volunteerism for children [5])

ES promotes positive mental health/identity

#### **ES Harmful**

ES neglects reality of racism, prejudice, discrimination (e.g. silence about race messages neglects reality of racism, prejudice, discrimination)

ES negates diversity, minorities' experiences (e.g. diversity is something to celebrate; neglects individuals' unique backgrounds)

ES does not promote (positive) ethnic-racial identity/ self-worth (e.g. children should be proud of their race, ES causes resentment/blame for own ethnicity) ES may cause bicultural identity conflict

ES draws attention to race/ethnicity e.g. by saying that races/ethnicities don't matter, you are drawing attention to differences

Table 6: Frequency of using each ethnic-racial socialization dimension among 36 low-income vs. 21 middle-and-upper-income Chinese American mothers

Frequency of using ea	ch ethnic-racial	Total	Total	Low-	Low-	Middle-	Middle-and-
socialization dimension		mothers	mothers	income	income	and-	upper-
		(count)	(percentage,	mothers	mothers	upper-	income
			N=57)	(count)	(percentage,	income	mothers
					N=36)	mothers	(percentage,
						(count)	N=21)
Cultural	Often	29	50.9%	16	44.4%	13	61.9%
Socialization	Sometimes	17	29.8%	12	33.3%	5	23.8%
	Rarely	2	3.5%	2	5.6%	0	0%
	Never	0	0%	0	0%	0	0%
	Other (unsure/ unclear/ incongruent/ did	9	15.8%	6	16.7%	3	14.3%
	not answer)						
Preparation for Bias	Often	1	1.8%	0	0%	1	4.8%
	Sometimes	8	14%	5	13.9%	3	14.3%
	Rarely	11	19.3%	4	11.1%	7	33.3%
	Never	31	54.4%	23	63.9%	8	38.1%
	Other (unsure/ unclear/	6	10.5%	4	11.1%	2	9.5%

	incongruent/ did						
	not answer)						
Promotion of	Often	0	0%	0	0%	0	0%
Mistrust	Sometimes	5	8.8%	3	8.3%	2	9.5%
	Rarely	10	17.5%	7	19.4%	3	14.3%
	Never	38	66.7%	23	63.9%	15	71.4%
	Other (unsure/	4	7%	3	8.3%	1	4.8%
	unclear/						
	incongruent/ did						
	not answer)						
Egalitarianism and	Often	8	14%	3	8.3%	5	23.8%
Silence about Race	Sometimes	18	31.6%	11	30.6%	7	33.3%
	Rarely	11	19.3%	9	25%	2	9.5%
	Never	11	19.3%	8	22.2%	3	14.3%
	Other (unsure/	9	15.8%	5	13.9%	4	19.1%
	unclear/						
	incongruent/ did						
	not answer)						

Table 7: Frequency of each code in the codebook

Codes	Total	Total mothers
	mothers	(percentage,
	(count)	N=57)
CS Current Practices		, ,
Chinese language use/ teaching	22	38.6%
Eat Chinese food	26	45.6%
Discussion about culture/history	15	26.3%
Visits to China	1	1.8%
Holiday celebrations	21	36.8%
Promotion of cultural values	1	1.8%
CS Helpful		
Understand cultural differences/ diversity	6	10.5%
Promote connection to China, cultural pride	17	29.8%
or/and positive Chinese identity		
Understand familial roots/history	3	5.3%
Understand Chinese history/culture/language	30	52.6%
Promote interest for other aspects of Chinese	5	8.8%
culture		
Strengthen parent-child/family bond	4	7.0%
CS is child-directed, developmentally	3	5.3%
appropriate		
CS Harmful		
Too much CS may hinder acculturation	5	8.8%
Too much CS may hinder diversity in friendships	0	0%
Cultural/ethnic/racial identity should not be the	2	3.5%
defining feature		
Bilingualism impairs language development	2	3.5%
CS may cause bicultural identity conflict	1	1.8%
PB Current Practices		
PB employs reactive strategies	5	8.8%
Parent prepares proactively	14	24.6%
Parent minimizes the role of race in	9	15.8%
discrimination		
Parent shares their own ethnic-racial	7	12.3%
discrimination experiences		
Parent avoids initiating PB discussions – child	2	3.5%
discovers on his own		
Parent tells child not to bully/ treat others	3	5.3%
unfairly		
Parent encourages child to work harder	5	8.8%
Parent promotes ethnic-racial pride	2	3.5%
PB Helpful		

		1
PB teaches coping strategies for ethnic-racial	25	43.9%
bullying		
PB paints a realistic picture	8	14.0%
PB encourages child to work harder	5	8.8%
PB Harmful		
PB overemphasizes the role of race	14	24.6%
PB negatively affects children's self-esteem/	25	43.9%
self-concept/ mental health		
PB forces Asian Americans to work harder	2	3.5%
PB limitations	2	3.5%
PM Current Practices		
Discussion about inequality and/ or structural	0	0%
racism in society		
Encourage avoidance of certain ethnic/ racial	7	12.3%
groups		
Use of PM only when child is bullied	1	1.8%
Gender differences in use	0	0%
PM Helpful		
PM protects/ prepares from possible or future	16	28.1%
danger		
PM Harmful		
PM is not conducive to fostering positive	20	35.1%
intergroup relations		
PM introduces/reinforces prejudice, stereotypes	12	21.2%
PM does not promote assimilation, integration	6	10.5%
PM introduces/reinforces discrimination, racism,	12	21.1%
segregation	12	21.170
PM overemphasizes race, underemphasizes	9	15.8%
individuals' contributions		13.070
PM incongruent with American values	3	5.3%
PM incongruent with Chinese values	0	0%
Child is too young for PM	3	5.3%
Cinia is too young for the		3.370
ES Current Practices		
Parent employs reactive strategies	5	8.8%
Discussions about equality/unity/shared	17	29.8%
humanity	1/	27.070
Parent neglects/ underemphasizes role of	19	33.3%
racial/ethnic differences	17	33.3/0
Discussions about race, inequality, and	1	1.8%
racism/discrimination	1	1.070
Tailor ES messages to child's developmental	3	5.3%
level		3.370
ES Helpful		
TO HEIPHUI	1	

ES is developmentally appropriate	3	5.3%
ES ease of use	1	1.8%
ES promotes mutual understanding and diversity	16	28.1%
ES messages are consistent with values of	13	22.8%
equality and/or shared humanity		
ES messages promotes pro-sociality, civic	4	7.0%
engagement		
ES promotes positive mental health/ identity	3	5.3%
ES Harmful		
ES neglects reality of racism, prejudice,	9	15.8%
discrimination		
ES negates diversity, minorities' experiences	9	15.8%
ES does not promote (positive) ethnic-racial	3	5.3%
identity/ self-worth		
ES may cause bicultural identity conflict	1	1.8%
ES draws attention to race/ethnicity	2	3.5%

Table 8: Perception of the four ethnic-racial socialization dimensions among 57 Chinese American mothers

Perception of each ethnic-racial socialization dimension		Number of	Percentage of mothers
		mothers (count)	(N=57)
Cultural Socialization	Helpful	44	77.2%
	Harmful	1	1.8%
	Neutral	1	1.8%
	Mixed	5	8.8%
	Other (unsure/ unclear/ did not	6	10.5%
	answer)		
Preparation for Bias	Helpful	19	33.3%
	Harmful	11	19.3%
	Neutral	0	0%
	Mixed	18	31.6%
	Other (unsure/ unclear/ did not	9	15.8%
	answer)		
Promotion of Mistrust	Helpful	10	17.5%
	Harmful	26	45.6%
	Neutral	0	0%
	Mixed	10	17.5%
	Other (unsure/ unclear/ did not	11	19.3%
	answer)		
Egalitarianism and Silence about Race	Helpful	27	47.4%

Harmful	4	7%
Neutral	1	1.8%
Mixed	9	15.8%
Other (unsure/ unclear/ did not	16	28.1%
answer)		

## Interview questions in English

There are several ways that parents teach their children about their ethnic and racial identity. I will give you some examples and I would like you to respond to the following questions.

- a. **Cultural socialization** is teaching children about their racial or ethnic heritage and history and promoting cultural, racial, and ethnic pride. Some examples may be talking about important historical or cultural figures; exposing children to culturally relevant books, music, and stories; celebrating cultural holidays; eating ethnic foods; and encouraging children to use their family's native language.
  - a. Do you **Often, Sometimes, Seldom, or Never** use these methods?
  - b. How are these methods helpful and/or potentially harmful?
- b. **Preparation for bias** is promoting children's awareness of discrimination and preparing them to cope. Parents who use this method may tell their children they have to work extra hard because of their minority status, share stories of their own discrimination experiences, and teach them how to cope.
  - a. Do you **Often, Sometimes, Seldom, or Never** use these methods?
  - b. How are these methods helpful and/or potentially harmful?
- **c. Promotion of mistrust** refers to practices that emphasize the need for wariness and distrust in interracial interactions. Parents may caution their children to avoid others of a certain race or to be extra careful or skeptical in these interactions.
  - a. Do you **Often, Sometimes, Seldom, or Never** use these methods?
  - b. How are these methods helpful and/or potentially harmful?
- d. Parents who use **egalitarianism and silence about race** messages encourage their children to value individual qualities over racial group membership or avoid any mention of race in discussions with their children. Parents may say, "It doesn't matter if your skin is black, white, or purple. We are all humans."
  - a. Do you **Often, Sometimes, Seldom, or Never** use these methods?
  - b. How are these methods helpful and/or potentially harmful?

## Interview questions in Chinese

通常父母有这几种方式教孩子他们的民族和种族身份。 我会举几个例子,我希望你回答以下几个问题。

- a. 文化社会化是教孩子他们的种族或民族遗产和历史,让他们对自己的文化,种族和民族感到自豪。 比如说,谈论重要的历史或文化人物; 让孩子接触与自己文化相关的书籍,音乐和故事; 庆祝文化节日; 吃民族食品; 并鼓励孩子使用家里的母语。
  - a. 你经常,有时,很少或从不使用这些方法吗?
  - b. 这些方法如何有用和/或有潜在危害?
- b. 为偏见做准备是促进儿童对歧视的认知并使他们做好应对准备。 使用这种方法的父母可能会告诉他们的孩子,由于他们是少数族 裔,他们可能会遭遇歧视,所以他们必须加倍努力。父母也可能 分享他们自己遭遇的歧视经历,并教孩子如何应对。
  - a. 你经常,有时,很少或从不使用这些方法吗?
  - b. 这些方法如何有用和/或有潜在危害?
- c. 促进不信任是指强调跨种族沟通时需要谨慎和不信任的做法。 父母可能会提醒他们的孩子避免和某些种族的人沟通,或者在这些互动中要特别小心或持怀疑态度。
  - a. 你经常,有时,很少或从不使用这些方法吗?
  - b. 这些方法如何有用和/或有潜在危害?

- d. 使用平等主义和对种族信息保持沉默的父母鼓励他们的孩子重视个人品质而不是种族群体成员,或者避免在与孩子讨论时提及种族。父母可能会说,"无论你的皮肤是黑色,白色或紫色,这并不重要。我们都是人类。"
  - a. 你经常,有时,很少或从不使用这些方法吗?
  - b. 这些方法如何有用和/或有潜在危害?

Eat Chinese food Celebrate holidays Discuss culture and history language Expose child to Chinese books and media Help child understand what discrimination is Build trust with child Seek expert knowledge Preparation for Bias (PB) Promote ethnic-racial pride **ERS Practices used** by Chinese American mothers Mistrust (PM)

Figure 1: ERS Practices used by Chinese American mothers

Too much CS may hinder acculturation PB encourage child to work harder Preparation for Bias (PB) Chinese American Mothers' Perception of ERS Dimensions Mistrust (PM)

Figure 2: Chinese American mothers' Perception of ERS Dimensions

## Bibliography

- Anzures, G., Quinn, P. C., Pascalis, O., Slater, A. M., & Lee, K. (2010).
  Categorization, categorical perception, and asymmetry in infants' representation of face race. *Developmental Science*, 13(4), 553–564.
  https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-7687.2009.00900.x
- Atkin, A. L., Yoo, H. C., & Yeh, C. J. (2019). What types of racial messages protect
   Asian American adolescents from discrimination? A latent interaction model.
   Journal of Counseling Psychology, 66(2), 247–254.
   https://doi.org/10.1037/cou0000297
- Bar-Haim, Y., Ziv, T., Lamy, D., & Hodes, R. M. (2006). Nature and nurture in own-race face processing. *Psychological Science*, *17*(2), 159–163. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9280.2006.01679.x
- Bengtsson, M. (2016). How to plan and perform a qualitative study using content analysis. *NursingPlus Open*, 2, 8–14. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.npls.2016.01.001
- Benner, A. D., & Kim, S. Y. (2009a). Intergenerational experiences of discrimination in chinese american families: Influences of socialization and stress. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 71(4), 862–877. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1741-3737.2009.00640.x
- Benner, A. D., & Kim, S. Y. (2009b). Experiences of Discrimination Among Chinese American Adolescents and the Consequences for Socioemotional and Academic Development. *Developmental Psychology*, 45(6), 1682–1694. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0016119
- Bobo, L., & Hutchings, V. L. (1996). Perceptions of Racial Group Competition:

  Extending Blumer's Theory of Group Position to a Multiracial Social Context

- Author (s): Lawrence Bobo and Vincent L. Hutchings Source: American Sociological Review, Vol. 61, No. 6 (Dec., 1996), pp. 9. *American Sociological Review*, 61(6), 951–972.
- Bowman, P. J., & Howard, C. (1985). Race-related socialization, motivation, and academic achievement: A study of Black youths in three-generation families. In *Journal of the American Academy of Child Psychiatry* (Vol. 24, Issue 2, pp. 134–141). Lippincott Williams & Wilkins. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0002-7138(09)60438-6
- Boykin, A. W., & Toms, F. D. (1985). Black child socialization: A conceptual framework. In *Black children: Social, educational, and parental environments*. (pp. 33–51). Sage Publications, Inc.
- Burnard, P. (1991). A method of analysing interview transcripts in qualitative research. *Nurse Education Today*, *11*(6), 461–466. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/0260-6917(91)90009-Y
- Burns, N. A., & Grove, S. K. (2005). Study guide for the practice of nursing research: conduct, critique, and utilization. WB Saunders Company.
- Burt, C. H., Simons, R. L., & Gibbons, F. X. (2012). Racial Discrimination, Ethnic-Racial Socialization, and Crime: A Micro-sociological Model of Risk and Resilience. *American Sociological Review*, 77(4), 648–677. https://doi.org/10.1177/0003122412448648
- Cabrera, N. J. (2013). Positive Development of Minority Children. *Social Policy Report*, 27(2), 1–30. https://doi.org/10.1002/j.2379-3988.2013.tb00075.x
- Caughy, M. O. B., O'Campo, P. J., Randolph, S. M., & Nickerson, K. (2002). The

- influence of racial socialization practices on the cognitive and behavioral competence of African American preschoolers. *Child Development*, 73(5), 1611–1625. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8624.00493
- Chao, M. M., Chiu, C., Chan, W., Mendoza-Denton, R., & Kwok, C. (2013). The model minority as a shared reality and its implication for interracial perceptions.
  Asian American Journal of Psychology, 4(2), 84–92.
  https://doi.org/10.1037/a0028769
- Cheah, C. S. L., Wang, C., Ren, H., Zong, X., Su Cho, H., & Xue, X. (2020).

  COVID-19 Racism and Mental Health in Chinese American Families.

  Pediatrics. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2020-021816
- Cheah, C. S. L., Zong, X., Cho, H. S., Ren, H., Wang, S., Xue, X., & Wang, C.
  (2021). Chinese American adolescents' experiences of COVID-19 racial discrimination: Risk and protective factors for internalizing difficulties. In
  Cultural Diversity and Ethnic Minority Psychology (Vol. 27, Issue 4, pp. 559–568). Educational Publishing Foundation. https://doi.org/10.1037/cdp0000498
- Chen, L. A. (1998). From the boat to the melting pot: A contextual examination of parental ethnic socialization and children's ethnic attitudes and knowledge among immigrant Chinese families. New York University.
- Cheryan, S., & Monin, B. (2005). Where are you really from?: Asian Americans and identity denial. In *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* (Vol. 89, Issue 5, pp. 717–730). American Psychological Association. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.89.5.717
- Chinn, P. L., & Kramer, M. K. (1983). Theory and nursing a systematic approach.

- Coard, S. I., Wallace, S. A., Stevenson Jr., H. C., & Brotman, L. M. (2004). Towards culturally relevant preventive interventions: The consideration of racial socialization in parent training with African American families. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, *13*(3), 277–293.

  https://doi.org/10.1023/B:JCFS.0000022035.07171.f8
- Colby, S. L., & Ortman, J. M. (2015). Projections of the Size and Composition of the U.S. Population: 2014 to 2060.
- Constantine, M. G., & Blackmon, S. M. (2002). Black adolescents' racial socialization experiences: Their relations to home, school, and peer self-esteem. *Journal of Black Studies*, 32(3), 322–335.

  https://doi.org/10.1177/002193470203200303
- Crenshaw, K. (2013). Demarginalizing the intersection of race and sex: A black feminist critique of antidiscrimination doctrine, feminist theory and antiracist politics. In *Feminist legal theories* (pp. 23–51). Routledge.
- Csizmadia, A., Rollins, A., & Kaneakua, J. P. (2014). Ethnic-racial socialization and its correlates in families of black-white biracial children. *Family Relations*, 63(2), 259–270. https://doi.org/10.1111/fare.12062
- Dixon, T. L., & Linz, D. (2000). Overrepresentation and underrepresentation of African Americans and Latinos as lawbreakers on television news. *Journal of Communication*, 50(2), 131–154.
- Downe-Wamboldt, B. (1992). Content analysis: method, applications, and issues. *Health Care for Women International*, 13(3), 313–321.
- Dunham, Y., Chen, E. E., & Banaji, M. R. (2013). Two Signatures of Implicit

- Intergroup Attitudes: Developmental Invariance and Early Enculturation.

  \*Psychological Science\*, 24(6), 860–868.

  https://doi.org/10.1177/0956797612463081
- Elo, S., & Kyngäs, H. (2008). The qualitative content analysis process. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 62(1), 107–115. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2648.2007.04569.x
- Feagin, J. R., & Van Ausdale, D. (2001). *The First R: How Children Learn Race and Racism*. Rowman & Littlefield Publishers.

  https://books.google.com/books?id=iQgfAAAAQBAJ
- Frabutt, J. M., Walker, A. M., & MacKinnon-Lewis, C. (2002). Racial Socialization Messages and the Quality of Mother/Child Interactions in African American Families. *The Journal of Early Adolescence*, 22(2), 200–217. https://doi.org/10.1177/0272431602022002004
- García Coll, C., Lamberty, G., Jenkins, R., Mcadoo, H. P., Crnic, K., Wasik, B. H.,
  García, H. V., Coll, C. G., Jenkins, R., & Mcadoo, H. P. (1996). An Integrative
  Model for the Study of Developmental Competencies in Minority Children.
  Child Development, 67(5), 1891–1914.
- Gartner, M., Kiang, L., & Supple, A. (2014). Prospective links between ethnic socialization, ethnic and American identity, and well-being among Asian-American adolescents. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 43(10), 1715–1727.
- Gee, C. B. (2004). Assessment of anxiety and depression in Asian American youth.

  \*Journal of Clinical Child and Adolescent Psychology, 33(2), 269–271.

  https://doi.org/10.1207/s15374424jccp3302\_7

- Graneheim, U. H., & Lundman, B. (2004). Qualitative content analysis in nursing research: Concepts, procedures and measures to achieve trustworthiness. *Nurse Education Today*, 24(2), 105–112. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2003.10.001
- Greene, M. L., Way, N., & Pahl, K. (2006). Trajectories of perceived adult and peer discrimination among Black, Latino, and Asian American adolescents: Patterns and psychological correlates. *Developmental Psychology*, 42(2), 218–238. https://doi.org/10.1037/0012-1649.42.2.218
- Hamm, J. V. (2001). Barriers and Bridges to Positive Cross-Ethnic Relations: African American and White Parent Socialization Beliefs and Practices. *Youth & Society*, 33(1), 62–98. https://doi.org/10.1177/0044118X01033001003
- Harris-Britt, A., Valrie, C. R., Kurtz-Costes, B., & Rowley, S. J. (2007). Perceived Racial Discrimination and Self-Esteem in African American Youth: Racial Socialization as a Protective Factor. *Journal of Research on Adolescence: The Official Journal of the Society for Research on Adolescence*, 17(4), 669–682. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1532-7795.2007.00540.x
- Hill, N. E. (2006). Disentangling ethnicity, socioeconomic status and parenting:

  Interactions, influences and meaning. *Vulnerable Children and Youth Studies*,

  1(1), 114–124. https://doi.org/10.1080/17450120600659069
- Hirschfeld, L. A. (1995). Do children have a theory of race? *Cognition*, *54*(2), 209–252. https://doi.org/10.1016/0010-0277(95)91425-R
- Hirschfeld, L. A. (2008). Children's developing conceptions of race. In *Handbook of race, racism, and the developing child.* (pp. 37–54). John Wiley & Sons, Inc.
- Hoff-Ginsberg, E., & Tardif, T. (1995). Socioeconomic status and parenting.

- Holland, K. M. (2007). A History of Chinese Immigration in the United States and Canada. *American Review of Canadian Studies*, *37*(2), 150–160. https://doi.org/10.1080/02722010709481851
- Hughes, D. (2003). Correlates of African American and Latino parents' messages to children about ethnicity and race: A comparative study of racial socialization.

  \*American Journal of Community Psychology, 31(1–2), 15–33.\*

  https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1023066418688
- Hughes, D., & Chen, L. (1997). When and what parents tell children about race: An examination of race-related socialization among African American families.

  Applied Developmental Science, 1(4), 200–214.
- Hughes, D., & Chen, L. (1999). The nature of parents' race-related communications to children: A developmental perspective. In *Child psychology: A handbook of contemporary issues*. (pp. 467–490). Psychology Press.
- Hughes, D., & DuMont, K. (1993). Using focus groups to facilitate culturally anchored research. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 21(6), 775–806. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00942247
- Hughes, D., & Johnson, D. (2001). Correlates in children's experiences of parents' racial socialization behaviors. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 63(4), 981–995. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1741-3737.2001.00981.x
- Hughes, D., Rodriguez, J., Smith, E. P., Johnson, D. J., Stevenson, H. C., & Spicer, P.
  (2006). Parents' ethnic-racial socialization practices: A review of research and directions for future study. *Developmental Psychology*, 42(5), 747–770.
  https://doi.org/10.1037/0012-1649.42.5.747

- Huguley, J. P., Wang, M. Te, Vasquez, A. C., & Guo, J. (2019). Parental ethnic-racial socialization practices and the construction of children of color's ethnic-racial identity: A research synthesis and meta-analysis. *Psychological Bulletin*, *145*(5), 437–458. https://doi.org/10.1037/bul0000187
- Hune, S., & Takeuchi, D. (2008). Asian Americans in Washington State: Closing their hidden achievement gaps. University of Washington Seattle, WA.
- Huynh, V. W., & Fuligni, A. J. (2008). Ethnic socialization and the academic adjustment of adolescents from Mexican, Chinese, and European backgrounds.
   In *Developmental Psychology* (Vol. 44, Issue 4, pp. 1202–1208). American Psychological Association. https://doi.org/10.1037/0012-1649.44.4.1202
- Hwang, W.-C., Wood, J. J., & Fujimoto, K. (2010). Acculturative family distancing (AFD) and depression in Chinese American families. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 78(5), 655–667. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0020542
- Juang, L. P., & Alvarez, A. A. (2010). Discrimination and adjustment among Chinese American adolescents: Family conflict and family cohesion as vulnerability and protective factors. *American Journal of Public Health*, 100(12), 2403–2409. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2009.185959
- Juang, L. P., & Cookston, J. T. (2009). Acculturation, discrimination, and depressive symptoms among Chinese American adolescents: A longitudinal study. *Journal* of Primary Prevention, 30(3–4), 475–496. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10935-009-0177-9
- Juang, L. P., Park, I., Kim, S. Y., Lee, R. M., Qin, D., Okazaki, S., Swartz, T. T., & Lau, A. (2018). Reactive and proactive ethnic-racial socialization practices of

- second-generation Asian American parents. *Asian American Journal of Psychology*, *9*(1), 4–16. https://doi.org/10.1037/aap0000101
- Juang, L. P., Shen, Y., Kim, S. Y., & Wang, Y. (2016). Development of an Asian American Parental Racial-Ethnic Socialization Scale. *Cultural Diversity and Ethnic Minority Psychology*, 22(3), 417–431. https://doi.org/10.1037/cdp0000083
- Juang, L. P., Yoo, H. C., & Atkin, A. (2017). A Critical Race Perspective on an Empirical Review of Asian American Parental Racial-Ethnic Socialization. In Asian American Parenting. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-63136-3
- Juang, L., & Syed, M. (2010). Family cultural socialization practices and ethnic identity in college-going emerging adults. *Journal of Adolescence*, 33(3), 347– 354. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.adolescence.2009.11.008
- Kelly, D. J., Quinn, P. C., Slater, A. M., Lee, K., Gibson, A., Smith, M., Ge, L., & Pascalis, O. (2005). Three-month-olds, but not newborns, prefer own-race faces.
  Developmental Science, 8(6), 31–36. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-7687.2005.0434a.x
- Kiang, L., Huynh, V. W., Cheah, C. S. L., Wang, Y., & Yoshikawa, H. (2017).Moving beyond the model minority. In *Asian American Journal of Psychology*(Vol. 8, Issue 1, pp. 1–6). https://doi.org/10.1037/aap0000070
- Kiang, L., Tseng, V., & Yip, T. (2016). Placing Asian American Child Development Within Historical Context. *Child Development*, 87(4), 995–1013. https://doi.org/10.1111/cdev.12578
- Killen, M., Lee-Kim, J., McGlothlin, H., Stangor, C., & Helwig, C. C. (2002). How

- Children and Adolescents Evaluate Gender and Racial Exclusion. *Monographs* of the Society for Research in Child Development, 67(4), i–129. http://www.jstor.org.proxy-um.researchport.umd.edu/stable/3181568
- Kim, C. J. (1999). The racial triangulation of Asian Americans. *Politics & Society*, 27(1), 105–138.
- Kinzler, K. D., & Spelke, E. S. (2011). Do infants show social preferences for people differing in race? Cognition, 119(1), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cognition.2010.10.019
- Knight, G. P., Bernal, M. E., Garza, C. A., Cota, M. K., & Ocampo, K. A. (1993). Family socialization and the ethnic identity of Mexican-American children. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology*, 24(1), 99–114. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022022193241007
- Kohn, M. L., Scotch, N. A., & Glick, I. D. (1979). The Effects of Social Class on Parental Values and Practices. *The American Family*, 1958, 45–77.
- Krippendorff, K. (1980). Validity in content analysis.
- Kyngas, H., & Vanhanen, L. (1999). Content analysis. *Hoitotiede*, 11(3–12).
- La Salle, T. P., Wang, C., Wu, C., & Rocha Neves, J. (2019). Racial Mismatch among Minoritized Students and White Teachers: Implications and Recommendations for Moving Forward. Journal of Educational and *Psychological Consultation*, 00(00), 1–30.
  - https://doi.org/10.1080/10474412.2019.1673759
- Lareau, A. (2003). *Unequal Childhoods: Class, Race, and Family Life*. Berkeley: University of California Press.

- Lauri, S., & Kyngas, H. (2005). Developing nursing theories. *Vantaa, Finland:*Werner Söderström, Dark Oy.
- Lee, S. J., Park, E., & Wong, J.-H. S. (2017). Racialization, Schooling, and Becoming American: Asian American Experiences. *Educational Studies*, *53*(5), 492–510. https://doi.org/10.1080/00131946.2016.1258360
- Liu, L. L., & Lau, A. S. (2013). Teaching about race/ethnicity and racism matters: An examination of how perceived ethnic racial socialization processes are associated with depression symptoms. In *Cultural Diversity and Ethnic Minority Psychology* (Vol. 19, Issue 4, pp. 383–394). Educational Publishing Foundation. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0033447
- Lowe, L. (1991). Heterogeneity, hybridity, multiplicity: marking Asian American differences. *Asian American Studies*, *1*, 254.
- Marshall, S. (1995). Ethnic socialization of African American children: Implications for parenting, identity development, and academic achievement. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 24(4), 377–396. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01537187
- McHale, S. M., Crouter, A. C., Kim, J. Y., Burton, L. M., Davis, K. D., Dotterer, A. M., & Swanson, D. P. (2006). Mothers' and fathers' racial socialization in African american families: Implications for youth. *Child Development*, 77(5), 1387–1402. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.2006.00942.x
- McHugh, M. L. (2012). Lessons in biostatistics interrater reliability: the kappa statistic. *Biochemica Medica*, 22(3), 276–282. https://hrcak.srce.hr/89395
- Mistry, J., & Kiyama, F. (2021). Navigating marginalization and invisibility as Asian Americans in the U.S. *American Psychologist*, 76(4), 582–595.

- https://doi.org/10.1037/amp0000782
- Morgan, D. L. (1993). Qualitative Content Analysis: A Guide to Paths not Taken.

  \*Qualitative Health Research\*, 3(1), 112–121.

  https://doi.org/10.1177/104973239300300107
- Nagata, D. K., & Cheng, W. J. Y. (2003). Intergenerational communication of racerelated trauma by Japanese American former internees. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 73(3), 266–278. https://doi.org/10.1037/0002-9432.73.3.266
- Neblett, E. W., Rivas-Drake, D., & Umaña-Taylor, A. J. (2012). The Promise of Racial and Ethnic Protective Factors in Promoting Ethnic Minority Youth Development. *Child Development Perspectives*, *6*(3), 295–303. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1750-8606.2012.00239.x
- Neblett, E. W., Terzian, M., & Harriott, V. (2010). From racial discrimination to substance use: The buffering effects of racial socialization. *Child Development Perspectives*, 4(2), 131–137. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1750-8606.2010.00131.x
- Newheiser, A.-K., Dunham, Y., Merrill, A., Hoosain, L., & Olson, K. R. (2014).

  Preference for high status predicts implicit outgroup bias among children from low-status groups. *Developmental Psychology*, 50(4), 1081.
- Nguyen, C. P., Joel Wong, Y., Juang, L. P., & Park, I. J. K. (2015). Pathways among Asian Americans' Family Ethnic Socialization, Ethnic Identity, and Psychological Well-Being: A Multigroup Mediation Model. *Asian American Journal of Psychology*, 6(3), 273–280. https://doi.org/10.1037/aap0000026
- Ogbu, J. U. (1981). Origins of Human Competence: A Cultural-Ecological Perspective. *Child Development*, 52(2), 413–429.

- https://doi.org/10.2307/1129158
- Olson, K. R., Shutts, K., Kinzler, K. D., & Weisman, K. G. (2012). Children

  Associate Racial Groups With Wealth: Evidence From South Africa. *Child Development*, 83(6), 1884–1899. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.2012.01819.x
- Ou, Y., & McAdoo, H. P. (1993). Socialization of Chinese American children. In *Family ethnicity: Strength in diversity*. (pp. 245–270). Sage Publications, Inc.
- Park, I. J. K., Du, H., Wang, L., Williams, D. R., & Alegría, M. (2020). The Role of Parents' Ethnic-Racial Socialization Practices in the Discrimination—Depression Link among Mexican-Origin Adolescents. *Journal of Clinical Child and Adolescent Psychology*, 49(3), 391–404. https://doi.org/10.1080/15374416.2018.1547969
- Pessar, P. R. (1995). The elusive enclave: ethnicity, class, and nationality among Latino entrepreneurs in Greater Washington, DC. *Human Organization*, *54*(4), 383–392. https://doi.org/10.17730/humo.54.4.t513672663608h87
- Phinney, J. S., & Chavira, V. (1995). Parental Ethnic Socialization and Adolescent Coping With Problems Related to Ethnicity. *Journal of Research on Adolescence*, 5(1), 31–53. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15327795jra0501\_2
- Pinderhughes, E. E., Dodge, K. A., Bates, J. E., Pettit, G. S., & Zelli, A. (2000).

  Discipline responses: influences of parents' socioeconomic status, ethnicity, beliefs about parenting, stress, and cognitive-emotional processes. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 14(3), 380.
- Powers, R. A., Bleeker, K., & Alcalde, C. (2022). Anti-Asian Hate Crime in U.S.

- National News: A Content Analysis of Coverage and Narratives from 2010–2021. *Race and Justice*, *13*(1), 32–54. https://doi.org/10.1177/21533687221120949
- Qin, Desirée B. (2009). Gendered processes of adaptation: Understanding parentchild relations in chinese immigrant families. *Sex Roles*, 60(7-8 SPEC. ISS.), 467–481. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11199-008-9485-4
- Qin, Desirée Boalian, Way, N., & Mukherjee, P. (2007). The Other Side of the Model Minority Story: The Familial and Peer Challenges Faced by Chinese American Adolescents. *Youth & Society*, *39*(4), 480–506. https://doi.org/10.1177/0044118X08314233
- Quintana, S. M. (1998). Children's developmental understanding of ethnicity and race. *Applied and Preventive Psychology*, 7(1), 27–45. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0962-1849(98)80020-6
- Quintana, S. M., & Vera, E. M. (1999). Mexican American children's ethnic identity, understanding of ethnic prejudice, and parental ethnic socialization. *Hispanic Journal of Behavioral Sciences*, 21(4), 387–404. https://doi.org/10.1177/0739986399214001
- Richardson, B. B. (1982). Racism and child-rearing: A study of Black mothers.
- Rivas-Drake, D., Hughes, D., & Way, N. (2009). A preliminary analysis of associations among ethnic-racial socialization, ethnic discrimination, and ethnic identity among urban sixth graders. *Journal of Research on Adolescence*, *19*(3), 558–584. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1532-7795.2009.00607.x
- Rodriguez, C. E. (1996). Historical perspectives on Puerto Rican survival in the US.

## VNR AG.

- Rosenberg, M., & Pearlin, L. I. (1978). Social class and self-esteem among children and adults. *American Journal of Sociology*, 84(1), 53–77. https://doi.org/10.1086/226740
- Rosenbloom, S. R., & Way, N. (2004). Experiences of discrimination among African American, Asian American, and Latino adolescents in an urban high school. *Youth and Society*, *35*(4), 420–451. https://doi.org/10.1177/0044118X03261479
- Rumbaut, R. G. (1994). The Crucible Within: Ethnic Identity, Self-Esteem, and Segmented Assimilation among Children of Immigrants. *International Migration Review*, 28(4), 748–794. https://doi.org/10.1177/019791839402800407
- Sangrigoli, S., & de Schonen, S. (2004). Recognition of own-race and other-race faces by three-month-old infants. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry and Allied Disciplines*, 45(7), 1219–1227. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7610.2004.00319.x
- Scott, L. D., & House, L. E. (2005). Relationship of distress and perceived control to coping with perceived racial discrimination among Black youth. *Journal of Black Psychology*, 31(3), 254–272. https://doi.org/10.1177/0095798405278494
- Seol, K. O., Yoo, H. C., Lee, R. M., Park, J. E., & Kyeong, Y. (2016). Racial and ethnic socialization as moderators of racial discrimination and school adjustment of adopted and nonadopted Korean American adolescents. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 63(3), 294–306. https://doi.org/10.1037/cou0000120
- Shin, R. Q., Welch, J. C., Kaya, A. E., Yeung, J. G., Obana, C., Sharma, R., Vernay,

- C. N., & Yee, S. (2017). The intersectionality framework and identity intersections in the journal of counseling psychology and the counseling psychologist: A content analysis. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 64(5), 458–474. https://doi.org/10.1037/cou0000204
- Sladek, M. R., Umaña-Taylor, A. J., Hardesty, J. L., Aguilar, G., Bates, D., Bayless,
  S. D., Gomez, E., Hur, C. K., Ison, A., Jones, S., Luo, H., Satterthwaite-Freiman,
  M., & Vázquez, M. A. (2022). "So, like, it's all a mix of one": Intersecting contexts of adolescents' ethnic-racial socialization. *Child Development*, 93(5), 1284–1303. https://doi.org/10.1111/cdev.13756
- Smith, E. P., Atkins, J., & Connell, C. M. (2003). Family, school, and community factors and relationships to racial-ethnic attitudes and academic achievement.

  \*American Journal of Community Psychology, 32(1–2), 159–173.\*

  https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1025663311100
- Spencer, M. B. (1983). Children's cultural values and parental child rearing strategies. *Developmental Review*, *3*(4), 351–370. https://doi.org/10.1016/0273-2297(83)90020-5
- Suárez-Orozco, C., & Suárez-Orozco, M. M. (1995). Transformations: Immigration, family life, and achievement motivation among Latino adolescents. In 

  Transformations: Immigration, family life, and achievement motivation among 
  Latino adolescents. (pp. xix, 266–xix, 266). Stanford University Press.
- Sue, S., Sue, D. W., Sue, L., & Takeuchi, D. T. (1995). Psychopathology among
  Asian Americans: A model minority? *Cultural Diversity and Mental Health*,

  1(1), 39–51. https://doi.org/10.1037/1099-9809.1.1.39

- Sullivan, J., Wilton, L., & Apfelbaum, E. P. (2021). Adults delay conversations about race because they underestimate children's processing of race. *Journal of Experimental Psychology. General*, *150*(2), 395–400. https://doi.org/10.1037/xge0000851
- Suzuki, B. H. (2002). Revisiting the Model Minority Stereotype: Implications for Student Affairs Practice and Higher Education. *New Directions for Student Services*, 2002(97), 21–32. https://doi.org/10.1002/ss.36
- Sy, F. S., Chng, C. L., Choi, S. T., & Wong, F. Y. (1998). Epidemiology of HIV and AIDS among Asian and Pacific Islander Americans. *AIDS Education and Prevention*, *10*(Suppl 3), 4–18.

  https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=psyh&AN=1998-04319-001&site=ehost-live
- Takaki, R. T. 1939-2009. (1998). Strangers from a different shore: a history of Asian Americans LK https://umaryland.on.worldcat.org/oclc/39870088. In *TA TT* (Updated an). Little, Brown. http://catdir.loc.gov/catdir/enhancements/fy0914/98218270-d.html
- Tatum, B. D. (1987). Assimilation blues: Black families in a White community.

  Greenwood Press.
- Thornton, M. C., Chatters, L. M., Taylor, R. J., & Allen, W. R. (1990).

  Sociodemographic and environmental correlates of racial socialization by Black parents. In *Child Development* (Vol. 61, Issue 2, pp. 401–409). Blackwell Publishing. https://doi.org/10.2307/1131101
- Tran, A. G. T. T., & Lee, R. M. (2010). Perceived ethnic-racial socialization, ethnic

- identity, and social competence among Asian American late adolescents. In *Cultural Diversity and Ethnic Minority Psychology* (Vol. 16, Issue 2, pp. 169–178). Educational Publishing Foundation. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0016400
- Tran, A. G. T. T., & Lee, R. M. (2011). Cultural socialization as a moderator of friendships and social competence. In *Cultural Diversity and Ethnic Minority Psychology* (Vol. 17, Issue 4, pp. 456–461). Educational Publishing Foundation. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0024728
- Umaña-Taylor, A. J., & Fine, M. A. (2001). Methodological implications of grouping

  Latino adolescents into one collective ethnic group. *Hispanic Journal of Behavioral Sciences*, 23(4), 347–362.

  https://doi.org/10.1177/0739986301234001
- Umaña-Taylor, A. J., Quintana, S. M., Lee, R. M., Cross Jr, W. E., Rivas-Drake, D.,
  Schwartz, S. J., Syed, M., Yip, T., Seaton, E., & Group, E. and R. I. in the 21st
  C. S. (2014). Ethnic and racial identity during adolescence and into young
  adulthood: an integrated conceptualization. *Child Development*, 85(1), 21–39.
  https://doi.org/10.1111/cdev.12196
- Wang, C., Cheah, C., Liu, J. L., Zhu, Q., Havewala, M., Ma, R., Cheong, Y., & Housden, M. (2022). Parents' Perspectives Regarding Anti-Asian Racism
  During COVID-19: Supporting Elementary Students at School. *School Psychology Review*, 0(0), 1–18.
  https://doi.org/10.1080/2372966X.2022.2098813
- Wang, Ming-te, Henry, D. A., Smith, L. V, Huguley, J. P., & Wang, M. (2020).

  Parental Ethnic-Racial Socialization Practices and Children of Color's

- Psychosocial and Behavioral Adjustment: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *American Psychologist*, 75(1), 1–22. https://doi.org/10.1037/amp0000464.supp
- Wang, Ming Te, & Huguley, J. P. (2012). Parental racial socialization as a moderator of the effects of racial discrimination on educational success among african american adolescents. *Child Development*, 83(5), 1716–1731. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.2012.01808.x
- Wang, Ming Te, Smith, L. V., Miller-Cotto, D., & Huguley, J. P. (2020). Parental Ethnic-Racial Socialization and Children of Color's Academic Success: A Meta-Analytic Review. *Child Development*, 91(3), e528–e544. https://doi.org/10.1111/cdev.13254
- Waters, M. (1994). Ethnic and racial identities of second-generation black immigrants in New York City. *International Migration Review*, 28(4), 795–820. https://doi.org/10.2307/2547158
- Waters, M. C. (1999). *Black Identities: West Indian Immigrant Dreams and American Realities*. Harvard University Press.

  http://www.hup.harvard.edu/catalog.php?isbn=9780674007246
- Wong, J., & Liu, R. Z. (2022). Between Empirical Data and Anti-Blackness: A
  Critical Perspective on Anti-Asian Hate Crimes and Hate Incidents. *Journal of Asian American Studies*, 25(3), 387–410. https://doi.org/10.1353/jaas.2022.0033
- Wong, P., Lai, C. F., Nagasawa, R., & Lin, T. (1998). Asian Americans as a model minority: Self-perceptions and perceptions by other racial groups. *Sociological Perspectives*, *41*(1), 95–118. https://doi.org/10.2307/1389355

- Wu, F. H. (2002). Yellow is yellow: race in America beyond black and white. *Yale Law and Policy Review*, 20.
- Yasui, M. (2015). A review of the empirical assessment of processes in ethnic–racial socialization: Examining methodological advances and future areas of development. *Developmental Review*, *37*, 1–40. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dr.2015.03.001
- Yellow Horse, A. J., Kuo, K., Seaton, E. K., & Vargas, E. D. (2021). Asian americans' indifference to black lives matter: The role of nativity, belonging and acknowledgment of anti-black racism. *Social Sciences*, *10*(5). https://doi.org/10.3390/socsci10050168
- Yoo, H. C., Burrola, K. S., & Steger, M. F. (2010). A preliminary report on a new measure: Internalization of the Model Minority Myth Measure (IM-4) and its psychological correlates among Asian American college students. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 57(1), 114.
- Young, J. L., Kim, H. D., & Golojuch, L. (2020). "Race was something we didn't talk about": Racial Socialization in Asian American Families. *Family Relations*, 94305. https://doi.org/10.1111/fare.12495
- Zhang, Y., Zhang, L., & Benton, F. (2022). Hate Crimes against Asian Americans.

  \*American Journal of Criminal Justice, 47(3), 441–461.

  https://doi.org/10.1007/s12103-020-09602-9